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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Introduction

The company primarily provides training, business process outsourcing services {(“BPO") and contract labour
management solutions. The key activities of the company were Retail Network Solutions (Warranty, Technical
and Dealer, Learning and Training), and Human Capital Solutions {(Managed Service Provider).

Business review

Turnover fell by £7,367 000, mostly as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the UK automotive
industry (see section on COVID-19 below). MSX International Limited is a supplier ta the global car brands and
their networks so the long term impact will be limited. The company continues to provide services within the
automotive industry at the level of the larger original equipment manufacturers, who in turn, for Retail Network
Solutions ("RNS™), share benefits with their dealers.

The company has strong procedures in place to review monthly forecast sales and margin reports, and
compares and investigates results to forecasts. The company proactively manages recruitment, staff retention
and turnover figures. Across the MSXI group there is much communication between sister companies in
different markets, and this continues to provide benefits. Over the past year the company has continued to build
on relationships with existing customers and to acquire new customers and contracts.

The directors’ financial risk management objective is to maximise financial assets and minimise financial
liabilities whilst not engaging in speculation. The company's policy is for work contracts to have in place a
customer purchase order and for payment terms to agree with our debtor collection targets. Credit checks are
instigated for any new business customer. Day Sales Outstanding is monitored monthly and receives close
scrutiny when showing a variance from target.

The company also generates revenues from licence fees which are charged to fellow subsidiaries in the MSXI
Group. This licence fee revenue is charged for the use of the Software Solutions that the company holds, and it
is anticipated that such revenue will grow as fellow subsidiaries increase such services to their customers
around the world.

An impairment of £10,059,000 has been booked against the investment held in Impetus Automotive Limited
reducing the investment from £32.6 million to £22 .5 million. The trigger for the impairment review was a result of
the reduction in trading due to COVID-19 experienced during 2020, and the expected future performance of its
contracts combined with the transfer of trade and assets from 1 January 2021, The impairment was calculated
based upon a discounted cashflow using a discount rate of 10%
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Group loan streamlining

On 30 November 2020 the group owned by Pacific {BC) Topcao limited, of which MSX| is an indirect subsidiary,
under took an exercise to segregate intragroup loans between its two divisions, the RNS division in which the
campany sits and the Geometric Results, Inc. ("GRI") division. Two of the company's loans were reassigned.
The company assigned an existing £9,312,122 loan to a fellow subsidiary Geometric Results Limited and
accrued interest of £1,593,527 over to one of the company's parent companies Pacific (BC) Topco 5 Limited. in
return for this the company received a new note for £10,805,639 from ancther parent company Pacific {BC)
Bidco Limited. Also a note that was payable to a fellow subsidiary, MSX International Canada Limited of
USD3,400,000 and accrued interest of USD230,429 up to 30 November 2020 was reassigned payable to
Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited.

On 31 December 2020 the group took further steps to rationalise its loans. Notes payable to a fellow subsidiary
company MSX International Holdings Inc. totalling USD39,531,746 and accrued interest of USD2,504,352 were
assigned to Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited.

Later on 31 December 2020 the company agreed with Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited to set off its trade, loan and
accrued loan interest balances owed to Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited totalling USD233,625,210 and its loan and
accrued loan interest balances receivable from Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited totalling USD14,885,168 in return for
one new note of $218,740,042 payable by the company to Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited.

Loan Financing

MSXI drew down £11m on its facility with Royal Bank of Canada in March 2020. This amount was repaid in
June 2020. The withdrawal was made to provide liquidity during the early stages of the pandemic. The
borrowing was subsequently incorporated within the overall borrowing of the wider Pacific (BC) Topco Ltd

group.

On 16 June 2020, the company's intermediate parent company, Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited, entered into a $25m
revolving facility agreement. This is an ancillary agreement to the senior facilities arrangement debt noted in
note 26 and MSX International Limited is a guarantor to the additional facility agreement.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Over the past few years, as the automotive industry looks to reduce its cost, MSXI has continued to supply old
and new customers with valuable services as they choose to outsource and take advantage of our solutions.

MSXI is mainly a supplier of services to the dealership, warranty and training sectors of the automotive industry.
As such, the company is largely shielded from short-term changes in activity relating to the new car sales
market. MSX} continues to monitor its employee profile against the demands of the industry and tailors its
workforce to meet that demand. The final terms of the Brexit agreement were such that the impact on the UK
car industry was minimal and did not significantly impact the activities of MSXI. MSX| does not make any
exports of good from the UK, nor daes it supply cross border service.

The company's main foreign currency risk exposure is in respect of the company's loans. In 2020 the company
made an operational foreign exchange loss of £2,626,000 (2019 - gain of £1,899,000). Exchange losses on
group loans amounted to £5,6068,000 (2619 - gain of £11,837,000).
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

COVID 19

On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organization (WHQ) announced a global health emergency because of
a new strain of coronavirus originating in Wuhan, China {the COVID-19 outhreak) and the risks to the
international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its paint of origin. In March 2020, the WHO
classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase in exposure globally. The longer
term impact of COVID-19 continues to evolve as of the date of this report. As such, there is still some level of
uncertainty of the continuing effects on the Company's financial cendition, liquidity and future results of
operations, Management is actively monitoring the global situation on its financial condition, liquidity, operations,
industry and workforce.

The COVID-19 autbreak has affected the Company and wider MSX International group headed up by Pacific
{BC) Taopeo Limited, an intermediate parent company (together the "Group") as follows:

. Woarkforce disruptions negatively impacted the Group's customers and therefore negatively impacted the
Group's revenues,

. Revenues were particularly negatively impacted during Q2 of 2020. However, during Q3 and Q4 there
was significant recovery and operating performance returned to a similar level as that generated prior to the
pandemic.

. The Group is dependent upcn its workforce to deliver its services. Developments such as social
distancing impacted the Group’s ability to deploy its workforce effectively at customer locations, however, in
many circumstances the Group’s workforce is able to deliver services remately.

. Due to the variability of the Group's cost base, the Group has been able to react to the financial
implications of COVID-19 by taking advantage of furlough programs and reducing headcount where required.
The Group has also renegotiated payment arrangements with certain suppliers to modify the timing and
amounts of cash outflows.

During 2020 the company claimed government support as part of the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
{CJRS) of £1,610,728. It also took advantage of the options to defer payroll taxes and VAT payments.

. in the first half of 2020 the intermediate parent group, headed by Pacific (BC) Topco Limited, further drew
down the maximum available borrowings under its Credit facilities of $756m to provide adequate cash resources
during the pandemic. Subsequent to this, and as a result of improved trading, the additional borrowing has been
reduced to $51.5m at 31 December 2020, although the full $75m facility remains available.

. The outbreak is still having an adverse impact on economic and market conditions and this has
contributed to a period of global economic slowdown, which may further depress the Group's asset values,
including its investments in and loans to its subsidiaries and its tangible and intangible fixed assets. However, at
the date of signing, the Directors do not believe there are any indicatars that the future impact is to be on such a
scale to cause a problem in this regard.

The directors believe that the measures taken by the Group should enable the business to continue to manage
its way through the extended impact of COVID-19.
Financial key performance indicators

The company's policy is to finance working capital through retained earnings and bank borrowings and to
finance subsidiary acquisitions through loans from group companies and bank loans.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Financial instruments - financial risk management

The company uses the following Key Performance Indicators to monitor the performance of the business:

2020 2019
Gross Margin as percentage of Turnover 29% 31%
Suppart Cost Centres as percentage of Turnover 8% 11%
Turnover Growth/(Decline), year on year (21)% {14)%
Day Sales Outstanding 62 days 61 days
Sales Per Employee £49,000 £63,000

The company's performance reflects a strong position within the market, given the challenges faced by
the automotive sector in 2020. Sales per employee has fallen due to periods with employees on furlough.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails
to meet its contractual obligations. The company is exposed to the usual credit risk and cash flow risk
associated with selling on credit and manages this through intemal credit control procedures. Credit risk also
arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions. For banks and
financial institutions, only independently rated parties with minimum rating "A" are accepted.

The company has amounts owed to it by group companies. The company is exposed to the usual credit risk
and cash flow risk associated with having inter-company debts. The company manages this through monitoring
and assessing the results and forecasts of the group entities from which the company is owed money.

Market (price) risk and interest rate risk

The company, alongside its competitors, is exposed to fluctuation in certain purchased services and manages
this risk, so far as is possible, by having long term relationships with key suppliers that aim to bring a high
degree of stability and certainty to service costs.

Market risk arises from the company's use of interest bearing financial instruments. It is the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates {interest
rate risk), or other market factors {other price risk).

The company is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk from short and long-term bank and group borrowings as
some of these instruments incorporate a fixed and variable rate. For those instruments not at a fixed rate of
interest, the rate of interest is a fixed percentage plus a variable element, usually based on Libor or Euribor.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT {(CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Liquidity risk

Ligquidity risk arises from the company's management of working capital and the finance charges and principal
repayments on its debt instruments. It is the risk that the company will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial
obligations as they fall due. The Board reviews cash flow projections on a regular basis as well as information
reqarding cash balances. At the end of the financial year, these projections indicated that the company
expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all reascnably expected
circumstances. The company also seeks to reduce liquidity risk by fixing interest rates (and hence cash flows) in
some cases on a portion of its short and long-term borrowings, this is further discussed in the ‘interest rate risk'
section above.

Investment risk

The company holds investments in subsidiaries. It is exposed to risk of the changes in the value of the
investment it holds. It manages the value of its investments through monitoring and assessing the impact of any

changes in the business model.

The directars do not consider any other risks attaching to the use of financial instruments to be material to an
assessment of its financial position or profit.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Section 172 Statement

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its
members as a whole in accordance with section 172 of the Companies Act 2008.

The Board of Directors, its key members of management and its advisars ensure that all decisions are taken for
the long term. Collectively and individually they aim always to uphold the highest standards of business conduct.
The Directors acknowledge that the business will only grow and prosper over the long term if it understands and
respects the views of the company's investors, customers, employees, suppliers and other stakeholders to
whom the Directors are accountable.

The Directors fulfil these duties partly through a strong system of governance that delegates day to day decision
making to key employees of the company.

Additionally, the further requirements of Section 172 are met though a combination of the foliowing:
. The likely consequences of any decision in the long term

The Directors understand the nature of the business through extensive expertise in the evolving environment in
which the Company operates, including the development of alternative fuel technologies and Motability
development. Key decisions are taken with future developments and the long-term success of the company at
the forefront of the decision-making process.

At the start of the COVID pandemic the board forecast various scenarios.

Since April 2020 the MSX management operating committee and Directors continually reviewed the
performance of MSX international against its competitors and the automative industry generally, continually
assessed the likely future development of the market and prepared and agreed a 3-year business plan.

. Interests of Employees

The company recognises that its employees are fundamental to the success of the business. The success of
the organisation depends on attracting, retaining, and motivating employees. We remain a responsible
employer and maintain a fair system of pay and benefits and a safe warking environment for our employees.

During 2020 we reinvigorated our Employee forum made up of elected employees to meet with senior
management to discuss matters and proposals affecting the workforce ahead of implementation and seek
feedhack and support.

To keep colleagues in touch with the wider business we introduced a maonthly newsletter. This proved
especially valuable as a medium to help keep colleagues wha were furloughed appraised of company news.

We implemented a continuous listening approach to Employee Engagement powered by Peakon. This
continuous cycle of gathering feedback, analysis, and action empowers senior management as well as
individual team leaders to understand the specific issues in their teams and take actions to address these. This
is supported by contextual training and learning content.

We have embraced the positive lessons learned from the government-imposed lockdowns. We now offer a
balanced working policy which, where feasible, formally enables colleagues to benefit from a mix of home
working and office working.

Our Global Town Halls are open to all employees and are held quarterly. They consist of presentations by the
senior leadership team on our performance, goals and strategic direction. They are also an open forum for
employees to ask gquestions directly to our leadership team during the Q&A section of the event. The Global
Townhalls are complemented by Regional and Country level meetings to update employees on more detailed
and relevant information pertaining to their domain.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Communication is all important in keeping colleagues appraised of company news. We also decided that
communication needs to be 2-way and therefore introduced the UK Directors Question Time sessions to enable
a direct line of questioning to the company directors.

. Business relationships with suppliers, customers, and others

We work in close partnership with our customers and suppliers to develep and promote the relationships
necessary for the growth of the business. Our systems ensure fair and timely payment to suppliers. Customer
relationship management is achieved through a dedicated of system of customer account managers.

A close working relationship with our client base was critical in managing the delivery of services during the
pandemic. Our relationships successfully enabled all engagements to agree new working standards and
practices. This helped minimise the impact of COVID 19 both for MSX and importantly our customers.

An important factor in managing the postponement services that could not be delivered during the pandemic
was the ability ta leverage the relevant government support schemes. Although complex the schemes were
successfully used, and robust internal monitoring meant all claims were paid promptly. This strengthened cash
flows and protected the robust ramp-up of hibernated services as the country emerged from lock down.

. Impact of operations on the community and environment

The company engages with the local community wherever this is appropriate and is cammitted to reducing its
environmental impact through working closely with its suppliers and customers.

As a result of COVID 19 there was a significant reduction in travel. We fully expect travel to be significantly
lower in the future as employees, customers and suppliers have reflected on the benefits of communications
biased towards the virtual, rather than the physical.

We have increased the number of battery electric and hybrid vehicles within the company fleet and expect full
adoption by mid-decade as existing leases renew.

We encourage employees to volunteer for charities and local community support groups during the furiough
period and reported back via our newsletter

. Maintain a reputation of high standards of business conduct

The company maintains focus on compliance with all corporate governance and tax environments around the
globe. The organisation maintains a collaborative and low risk approach in dealing with external regulations.

. Act fairly between members of the company

After weighing up all relevant factors, the Directors consider which course of action best enables delivery of our
corporate strategy taking into account short-and long-term needs and the impact on stakeholders.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Future developments

The company continues to build relationships with new and current customers locking to acquire new contracts
in both existing and new markets.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

N Andersson
Director

Date: 14 March 2022
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the directors' report and the financial statements
in accardance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law
the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been foliowed, subject to any material

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

. brepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Results and dividends

The loss for the year, after taxation, amounted to £20,004 thousand (2019 - profit £9,229 thousand).

The directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend (2019: £Nil).
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Directors
The directars of the company throughout the year and to the date of this report were;

F Minturn

S Del Mar ( resigned 17 December 2020)

N Andersson (appointed 17 December 2020)

P Katenkamp (appointed 17 December 2020, resigned 31 October 2021)

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of the directors which remain
in force at the date of this report.

Going concern

The company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, its financial
pasition, details of its financial instruments and its exposures to price, credit, liquidity and foreign exchange risk,
where material to an assessment of the financial position of profit, are described in the strategic or directors'
report. At 31 December 2020 the company had: net current liabilities of £341,053,000 (2019 net current
liabilities of £355,467,000);, and net assets of £39,533,000 (2019: £59,497,000). Included within creditors
amounts owed to group undertakings due within one year are amounts totalling £362,445,000 {(2019:
£355,767,000). The intermediate parent company Pacific (BC) Tepco Lid has confirmed their intention to
provide ongoing financial support to the company. The directors believe that the company is well placed to
manage its business risks successfully.

The directors have prepared detailed trading and cash flow forecasts for the Company and intermediate parent
Group covering a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements, and have
reviewed the company's working capital requirements, compared to the funding resources available. After
making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to
continue in operatianal existence for the foreseeable future. The impact of Covid -19 on businesses across the
globe and in all industries has been enormous. In response to the pandemic, as noted in the Strategic Report,
the Company has strengthened its liquid resources, worked with its suppliers, and received government support
in minimising the impact on its business and employees. These steps have ensured the company has remained
strong and in a position to grow rapidly once the risks of the pandemic recede. Accardingly, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.

Matters covered in the strategic report

The directors have included a business review within the strategic report. Also included in the strategic report
are details of the future developments and the principal risks and uncertainties and a review of the key
performance indicators as assessed by the directors, and details of financial risk management objectives and
policies and details of any material exposures to price credit and liquidity cash flow risks.

Research and development activities

The company is actively engaged in product research and development in order to maintain its competitiveness.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Engagement with employees

Consultation with employees or their representatives has continued at all levels, with the aim of ensuring that
their views are taken into account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their interests and that all
employees are aware of the financial and economic performance of their business units and of the company as
a whole,

Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective
aptitudes and abilities of the applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled every
effort is made to ensure that their employment within the company continues and that appropriate training is
arranged. It is the policy of the company that the training, career development and promation of a disabled
person should, as far as possible, be identical to that of a person who does not suffer from a disability.

Energy and emissions report

In the year the company took the following energy efficiency actions:

. Reduction in internal business travel through use of remote working and video-conferencing.
. Reduction in customer related travel through use of remote working.
. Increased use of hybrid electric and fully electric vehicles within the company fleet.

The energy and carbon footprint cover Scope 1,2 and selected Scope 3 emissions for the year ended 31
December 2020 in respect of the Company. The footprint is calculated in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas
{GHG) Protocol. Outputs are in Kwh & CQO2e using the 2020 conversion factors issued by the Department for
Business, Energy and Industry Strategy (BEIS).

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for the year ended 31 December 2020

2020
Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (k\Wh) 340,462
Scope 2 - purchased electricity {Tonnes CQO2e) 72.79
Scope 3 — Business travel in rental cars or employee-owned vehicles (Tonnes COZe) 6.96
Total gross emissions (Tonnes CO2e) 79.75
Intensity Ratio - Emissians per employee 0.14

Branches outside the United Kingdom

The company operates branches in Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Finland and Dubai. In 2020 the branch
activities contributed 46% (2019: 41%) of the total turnover for the year.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FCR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this directors' report is approved has confirmed that:

. so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor are
unaware and;

. the director has taken alt the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor are aware of that information.

Post balance sheet events

From 1 January 2021, the Directors have made the strategic business decision to transfer the trade and assets
from its subsidiary Impetus Automotive Limited to the Company. The Directors have taken this decision as there
are significant cost savings available by combining the two entities due to the similarity in the principal activities
of the two companies.

In February 2022 the group undertock a refinancing to extend the maturity of its existing facilities with no
change in the total indebtedness as follows:

On 24 February 2022 the group amended and restated the Senior Facility Agreement, extending the maturity of
a proportion of its Term Loans by two years, to 6 January 2026 from 6 January 2024. €475.0 million of Euro-
denominated term loans and $48.3 million USD-denominated term loans were extended, with applicable
margins of 4.75% and 5.0%, respectively. Existing term loans totalling €24.6 million remained outstanding and
due at the original maturity of 6 January 2024. In addition, the maturity of the group’s multicurrency revolving
credit facility was extended by 2.5 years to 6 July 2025 from 6 January 2023.

In connection with amendments to the group's Senior Facility Agreement, as amended, the group amended the
PIK Facility Agreement. The term was exiended to 6 July 2026 from 8 January 2025, and Term SOFR was
infroduced as the reference rate.

Auditors

The auditor, BDO LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act
2008.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

N Andersson
Director

Date: 14 March 2022
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinioh the financial statements:

s give a frue and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its loss for the
year then ended;

s have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 20086.

We have audited the financial statements of MSX International Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31
December 2020 which comprise the Income Statement, the Statement of comprehensive income, the
Statement of financial position, the Statement of changes in equity and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reparting framework that has been applied
in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Irefand (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK)}) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability ta continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for
issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing s0, consider whether the other infarmation is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors' report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the Strategic report and the Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legai
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of

the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report or the Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2008
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have nat been received
from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
+ cerain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained mare fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but 1o do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objettives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the ecanomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irreqularities,
including fraud is detailed below:
+ Enquiring of those charged with govemance and management, including obtaining and reviewing
correspondence, concerning the Company's internal policies and procedures relating to:
¢ Identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether there were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;
°  Detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have the knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud; and
®  The internal controls established to mitigate risk relates to fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations.

s Obtaining an understanding, as gathered from accumulated knowledge of client and the industry, of the
legal and regulatory (including reporting framework) environment that the Company operates in, focusing on
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

those laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a direct effect on the financial
statements or a fundamental effect on the operations of the Company.

s Where available and provided, reviewing all correspondence with regulatory authorities such as HMRC.

o Undertaking analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate
risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

* In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of
journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. Including reviewing all manual
journals made to revenue above triviality.

« Additionally, we reviewed the revenue recognition policy for consistency with prior year and ensured
adopted policy was in line with financial reporting regquirements, we tested the application of this policy
throughout our substantive audit procedures over revenue.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements,
recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery,
misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and
the further removed nan-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in
the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at; . This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Pairt 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's repart and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company
and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DecuSigned by:
Eﬁm 'H'PUI\'ESDV\,
991518A1FBBF45F,
Piers Harrison (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor

Cambridge
United Kingdom

15 March 2022

BDQ LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Other operating income

Other operating (charges)/income
Operating (loss)/profit

Income from other fixed asset investments
Amounts written off investments

Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar expenses

(Loss)/profit before tax

Tax on (loss)/profit

(Loss)/profit for the financial year

Note

10
16
11
12

13

The notes on pages 21 to 51 form part of these financial statements.

2020 2019
£000 £000
27,966 35,333
(19,970) (24,219)
7,996 11,114
(9,272) (11,168)
1,611 .
(2,626) 1,899
(2,291) 1,845
2,038 1,786
(10,059) -
3,720 18,527
(12,901) (12,431)
(19,493) 9,727
(511) (498)
(20,004) 9,229
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

(Loss)/profit for the financial year
Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gain on defined benefit schemes
Pension surplus not recognised
Currency translation difference

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

Total comprehensive {loss)/income for the year

The notes on pages 21 to 51 form part of these financial statements.

2020 2019
£000 £000
(20,004) 9,229
95 98

(95) (98)

40 (17)

40 (17)
(19,964) 9,212
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 01949542

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Fixed assets

Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments

Current assets

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liahilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more
than one year

Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

Note

14
15
16

17
18

18

20

2020
£000

5,091
552
375,203

380,846

25716
7,426

33,142

{374,195)
{341,053)
39,793

{260)
39,533
14,182

517
24,834

39,633

2019
£000

4,699
803
409,722

415,224

16,354
2,218

18,572

(374,039)
(355,467)
59,757

(260)
59,497
14,182

517
44,798

59,497

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf by:

N Andersson
Director

Date: 14 March 2022

The notes on pages 21 to 51 form part of these financial statements.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Share
Called up premium Profit and
share capital account loss account Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2020 14,182 517 44,798 59,497
Comprehensive loss for the year
Loss for the year - - (20,004) {20,004)
Actuarial gains on pension scheme net of surplus
not recognised - - - -
Foreign exchange differences - - 40 40
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 40 40
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (19,964) {19,964)
At 31 December 2020 14,182 517 24,834 39,533

The notes on pages 21 to 51 form part of these financial statements.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share
Called up premium Profit and
share capital account loss account Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 January 2019 14,182 517 35,586 50,285
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit far the year - - 9,229 9,229
Actuarial losses on pension scheme net of surplus
not recognised - “ - -
Currency translation difference - - {17) {17)
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - (17) {(17)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 9,212 9,212
At 31 December 2019 14,182 517 44,798 59,497

The nates on pages 21 to 51 form part of these financial statements.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1.

General information

The company is a private company limited by shares incorporated in England and Wales. The company's
registered office and principal place of business is located at The Qctagon, Middleborough, Colchester
CO11TG.

Accounting policies

241

2.2

23

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise
specified within these accounting policies and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102,
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland and the
Companies Act 20086.

The financial statements have also adopted the following disclosure exemptions:

- The requirements of Section 7 Statement of Cash Flows; and
- The requirements of Section 12 Other Financial Instruments paragraphs 12.26 to 12.26.

This information is included in the consolidated financial statements of Pacific (BC) Topco Limited,
as at 31 December 2020, a company registered in Jersey.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also reguires management to exercise judgment in applying the
campany's accounting policies (see note 3).

The following principal accounting policies have been applied:
Associates and joint ventures

Associates and Joint Ventures are held at cost less impairment.
Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The company is reliant on
its parent group, MSX International group, which is headed up by Pacific (BC) Topco Limited, an
intermediate parent company, for financial support. The parent group has provided a suppoit letter
indicating its intent and ability to financially support through a year and a day from the date the
financial statements were available to be issued.

The impact of Covid -19 on businesses across the globe and in all industries has been enormous.
In response to the pandemic, as noted in the Strategic Report, the Company has strengthened its
liguid resources, worked with its suppliers, and received government support in minimising the
impact on its business and employees. These steps have ensured the company has remained
strong and in a position to grow rapidly once the risks of the pandemic recede.

The directors have prepared detailed trading and cash flow forecasts for the Company and
intermediate parent Group covering a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these
financial statements, and have reviewed the company's working capital requirements, compared to
the funding resources available. Accordingly, the Directors continue continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

24

2.5

2.6

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured as the fair value of the
consideration received ar receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added tax and other sales
taxes. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised in the period in which the services are

provided in accordance with the stage of completion of the contract when all of the following
conditions are satisfied:

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the company will receive the consideration due under the contract;

. the stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting period can be measured
reliably; and

. the costs incurred and the costs to complete the contract can be measured reliably.

Human Capital Management Services
Revenue is recognised net where the company acts as an agent for the delivery of agency staff, as

is the case for all Human Capital Management Services activities, as the company does not have
the significant risks and rewards of the transaction.

Sale of Software Licences

Revenug is recognised as services are delivered. Invoices are raised on a monthly basis at the end
of the month ta which they relate. Revenue is recognised in accordance with the period for which
services are provided.

Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are
recognised when paid. Final equity dividends are recognised when approved by the shareholders at
an annual general meeting.

Dividends on shares wholly recognised as liabilities are recognised as expenses and classified
within interest payable.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. After recognition, under the cost model, intangible
assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

All intangible assets are considered to have a finite useful life. If a reliable estimate of the useful life
cannot be made, the useful life shall not exceed ten years.

See note 2.23 for further details of amortisation policy.

Page 22



MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued)

2.7 Tangible fixed assets

2.8

2.9

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable fo bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for i to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.

The company adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of
such an item when that cost is incurred, if the replacement part is expected tc provide incremental
future benefits to the company. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is charged sc as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

Fixtures and fittings - 20% straight line
Other fixed assets - 20-33% straight line

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting
date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the Income statement.

Valuation of investments

investments in subsidiaries and associates are measured at cost less accumulated impairment.
Loans to group companies included within Fixed asset investments are accounted for in accordance
with the financial instrument accounting policy (note 2.11).

Debtors

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans receivable are
measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Where the company has entered into a debt factoring arrangement and has transferred to the debt
factor substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the receivables, the receivable is
removed from its statement of financial position and no liability in respect of the proceeds received
from the debt factor.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that
mature in no more than three months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued}

2.11 Financial instruments

The company enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of
financial assels and liabilities iike trade and other debtors and creditors, loans from banks and other
third parties, loans to related parties and investments in non-puttable ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), including loans
and other accounts receivable and payable, are initially measured at present value of the future cash
flows and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Debt instruments that
are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade debtors and creditors, are measured,
initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration expected
to be paid or received. However, if the arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a
financing transaction, like the payment of a trade debt deferred beyond normal business terms or
financed at a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in case of an out-right short-term loan not at
market rate, the financial asset or liability is measured, initially, at the present value of the future
cash flow discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument and subsequently at
amortised cost.

For loans from group undertakings payable after cne year, where these arrangements constitutes a
financing transaction, the company initially measures the financial liability at the present value of the
future payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument. For loans fram
parent entities or fellow subsidiaries, as the actual rate of interest is lower than the deemed market
rate, the deemed capital contribution is recognised as a capital contribution in the statement of
changes in equity. For loans from subsidiaries, as the actual rate of interest is lower than the
deemed market rate, the company recognises a distribution made to it by the subsidiary, being the
difference between the present value as explained above, and the sum advanced. This is included
within income from fixed asset investments. Subsequently, at the end of each reporting period, the
debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate
of interest for a similar debt instrument, Over the term of the loan, the company recognises an
interest expense in the income statement equal to the amount cf the capital contribution or the
deemed distribution, in addition to the actual interest expense arising on the related inter company
loans.

Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each
reporting period for objective evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found,
an impairment loss is recognised in the Income statement.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between an asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the
asset's original effective interest rate. if a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the
contract,

For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between an asset's carrying amount and best estimate of the recoverable amount, which
is an approximation of the amount that the company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold
at the reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is an enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Financial instruments (continued)

Derivatives, including interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts, are not basic
financial instruments. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Changes in the fair
value of derivatives are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs or income as appropriate. The
company does not currently apply hedge accounting for interest rate and foreign exchange
derivatives.

2.12 Foreign Currencies

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Nen-
monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the dafe of the
transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate
when fair value was determined.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the
translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement except when deferred in other comprehensive
income as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the income statement within 'finance income or costs or interest payable or receivable'.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement within ‘other
Operating income or charges'.

Assets and liabilities of branches in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the exchange
rate ruling at the balance sheet date and the results of foreign branches are translated at the
average rate of exchange for the year. Differences on exchange arising from the re-translation of the
apening net investment in the branches, and from the re-translation of the results of those branches
at the average rate, are taken to other comprehensive income,

Functional and presentational currency

The company has multiple functional currencies: GBP, SEK, EUR, NOK, DKK, AED as a result of
the international branches. The company's presentational currency is GBP. The financial
statements are rounded to the nearest £1,000.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Defined contribution pension plan

The company operales a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution planis a
pension plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the
contributions have been paid the company has no further payments cbligations.

The contributions are recognised as an expense in the income statement when they fall due.
Amounts not paid are shown in accruals as a liability in the statement of financial position. The
assets of the plan are held separately from the company in independently administered funds.

2.14 Defined benefit pension scheme

In the past, employees could join a defined benefit scheme, for which the company still has
obligations. Pension commitments arising in respect of the defined contribution scheme are charged
to the income statement on the basis of contributions payable for the period. FRS 102 section 28
deals with the treatment of the company's defined benefits pension scheme in the accounts which is
set out in note 23.

The difference between the fair value of the assets held in the company's defined benefit pension
scheme and the scheme's liabilities measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method
are recognised in the company's statement of financial position as a pension asset or liability as
appropriate. The carrying value of any resulting pension scheme asset is restricted to the extent that
the company is able to recover the surplus through reduced contributions in the future or through
refunds from the scheme.

Pension scheme assets are measured using market values, Pension scheme liabilities are
measured using a projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability. The increase in the present
value of the liabilities of the company's defined benefit pension scheme expected to arise from
employee service in the year is charged to operating profit. The expected return on the scheme's
assets and the increase during the year in the present value of the scheme’s liabilities arising from
the passage of time are included in other finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.

2.15 Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including bank
loans, are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.16 Government grants

Grants are accounted under the accruals model as permitted by FRS 102, Grants relating to
expenditure on tangible fixed assets are credited to profit or loss at the same rate as the
depreciation on the assets to which the grant relates. The deferred element of grants is included in
creditors as deferred income.

Grants of a revenue nature are recognised in "other income" within profit and loss in the same
period as the related expenditure. This includes the Government Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme ('Furlough’). The Graup has not directly benefited from any other forms of government
assistance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Accounting policies {continued)

2.17 Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to the income statement over the term of the debt using the effective
interest method so that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount. Issue costs
are initially recognised as a reduction in the proceeds of the associated capital instrument.

2.18 Operating leases: the company as lessee

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis
over the lease term.

2.19 Holiday pay accrual

A liability is recognised to the extent of any unused holiday pay entitlement which is accrued at the
statement of financial position date and carried forward to future periods. This is measured at the
undiscounted salary cost of the future holiday entitlement so accrued at the statement of financial
position date.

2.20 Interest income
interest income is recognised in the Income statement using the effective interest method.
2.21 Income from fixed asset investments

Income from fixed assets investments is recognised when the company's right to receive payment is
established,

2.22 Current and deferred taxation

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Income
statement, except that a charge attributable to an item of income and expense recognised as other
comprehensive income or to an item recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countries where the company operates
and generates income.

Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not
reversed by the statement of financial position date, except that:

. The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will
be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits; and

. Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated tax
allowances have been met.

Deferred tax balances are not recognised in respect of permanent differences except in respect of
business combinations, when deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the fair values
of assets acquired and the future tax deductions available for them and the differences between the
fair values of liabilities acquired and the amount that will be assessed for tax. Deferred tax is
determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Page 27



MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 BECEMBER 2020

Accounting policies {(continued)

2.23 Capitalisation of Software Costs

Costs directly attributable to the development of computer software are capitalised as intangible
assets where technical feasibility of the project is demanstrated, the company has an intention and
ability to complete and use the scftware and the costs can be measured reliably. Such costs include
purchases of materials and services and payroli-related costs of employees directly involved in the
project. Research costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. Amortisation is charged to administration
expenses in the income statement.

Amortisation is provided on the following basis:
Development software - 20% straight line

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting
date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within ‘other operating income’ in the income statement.

2.24 Research and development

In the research phase of an internal project it is not possible to demonstrate that the project will
generate future economic benefits and hence all expenditure on research shall be recognised as an
expense when it is incurred. Intangible assets are recognised from the development phase of a
project if and only if certain specific criteria are met in arder to demonstrate the asset will generate
probable future economic benefits and that its cost can be reliably measured. The capitalised
development costs are subsequently amortised on a straight line basis over their usefui economic
lives, which range from 3 tc 6 years.

If it is not possible to distinguish between the research phase and the development phase of an
internal project, the expenditure is treated as if it were all incurred in the research phase only.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.25 Share capital and reserves

The company's reservcs are as follows:
« Called up share capital reserve represents the nominal vaiue of the shares issued.

« The share premium account includes the premium on issue of equity shares, net of any issue
costs.

- Profit and loss account represents cumulative profits or losses, net of dividends paid and other
adjustments.

2.26 Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements contain information abouf MSX international Limited as an individual
company and do not contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. The
company has taken advantage of the exemption conferred by section 401 of the Companies Act
20086 not to produce consolidated financial statements as it is included in non-EEA group accounts
of a larger group headed by Pacific (BC) Topco Limited incorporated in Jersey. The registered office
of Pacific (BC) Topca Limited is 22 Grenville Street, St Helier, Jersey JE4 IPX, Channel Islands.
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MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing these financial statements, the directors have made the following judgements:
. Intangible and tangibie fixed assets (see notes 14 and 15)

inlangible and tangible fixed assets, other than investment properties, are depreciated over their useful
lives taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual
values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In re-assessing asset
lives, factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are
taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the
remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values.

. Agency vs principal

Determine whether cantracts entered into by the company is to provide the service itself (i.e., the entity is
a principal) or to arrange for another party to provide the service (i.e., the entity is an agent). MSX
International Limited makes this determination by evaluating the nature of its promise to the customer.
An entity is a principal (and, therefore, records revenue on a gross basis) if it controls the promised
service befare transferring it to the customer. An entity is an agent {and records as revenue the net
amount it retains as a commission) if its only role is to arrange for another entity to provide the services.
Because the identification of the principal in a contract is not always clear, the Board uses the following
non-exhaustive list of indicators that a performance obligation involves an agency relationship:

- Anocther party has primary responsibility for fulfilling the contract;

- The entity does not have discretion to establish pricing for the cther party's services {i.e., the benefit
the entity can receive from those services is limited);

- The entity's consideration is in the form of a commission; and

- The entity is not exposed to credit risk for the amount receivable in exchange for the services.

. Impairment of fixed asset investments

Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the company's fixed asset investments. Factors
taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability and expected future
financial performance of the asset and where it is a component of a larger cash-generating unit, the
viability and expected future performance of that unit.

. Taxation

Management estimation is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an assessment of the
effect of future tax planning strategies.

. Financial Instruments

For financial liabilities which are measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a

market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument, judgements are made in relation to the determination
of market rate of interest for a similar debt instruments.
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Judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)

. Pension benefits

The cost of defined henefit pension plans ae determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial
valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases, mortality rates and
future pension increases. Due ta the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and the long
term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Further details of the
estimates applied are given in note 23.

The carrying value of any pension scheme asset is restricted to the extent that the company is able to
recover the surplus through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the scheme. The
directors have determined that pension scheme surplus of £418,000 was not recognised as an asset
because they consider that the company does not have an unconditional right to a refund or reduced
contributions. The company does not have an unconditional right to a refund because of the ability of the
Trustees to influence and decide on the most appropriate use of any surplus, and the company is not
able to recover the surplus through reduced contributions for the same reason.

, Impairment of intangible assets

Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the company's intangible assets. Factors taken
into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability and expected future financial
performance of the asset and where it is a component of a larger cash-generating unit, the viability and
expected future performance of that unit.

. Recoverability of debtors

Determine whether debtors are recoverable, including determining whether trade debtors and
intercompany debtor balances are recoverable. Consideration is made of any objective evidence of
impairment of any financial assets that are measured at cost or amortised cost, including observable data
that come to the attention of the Company or other factors which may alsa be evidence of impairment,
including significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment in respect of that financial asset. Consideration is also made taking
account of factors such as payment history, and managements knowledge of their customer base and
their financial position. Judgement is also applied in assessing if the loan receivable is fixed asset
investment or current asset based upon the nature of the balance and the timing and nature of expected
settiement. In relation to intercompany debtors due from entities within the same group as a company,
the directors have received a letter from the parent company, Pacific {(BC) Topco Ltd in which Pacific
{BC) Topco Ltd confirm they will guarantee the amounts owed by all group entities to the company.

. Capitalisation of intangible assets (software costs)

Management make judgements in relation to determining whether software costs should be expensed or
capitalised as intangible assets, as explained below.

Management recognise an intangible asset as an asset if, and only if:

{(a) it is prabable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to
the entity; and

{b) the cost or value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Management assess the probability of expected future economic benefits using reasonable and
supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the economic conditions that will
exist over the usefu| life of the asset.
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Judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)

. Capitalisation of intangible assets (software costs} cantinued

In relation to internally generated intangible assets, management recognise an intangible asset arising
from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) if, and only if, management can
demonstrate all of the following:

{a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale.

{b) lts intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.

{c) Its ability to use or sell the intangible asset.

{d) How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the
entity can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset or the intangible
asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset.

{e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset.

(fy ts ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

Turnover

An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
General collaborative services 27,215 33,869
License fee revenue 731 1,190
Custom implementation revenue 20 274
27,966 35333

Analysis of turnover by country of destination:
2020 2019
£000 £000
United Kingdom 14,966 20,841
Nordic countries 10,846 10,718
Dubai 2,154 3774

27,966 35,333
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Qther operating charges/{incomne)

Other operating charges/(income)

Exchange losses/(gains) on operating activity

Other operating income

Government grants receivable

2020 2019
£000 £000
2,626 (1,899)
2,626 (1,899)
2020 2019
£000 £000
1,611 -
1,611 -

The Government Grant is the amount received relating to the Government Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme ('Furlough"). In determining the recognition of the grant income, management has evaluated and
concluded that the period of economic uncertainty commenced in April 2020 when the COVID-19

pandemic started.

Operating (loss)/profit

The operating (loss)/profit is stated after charging:

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets
Exchange losses/(gains) on operating activity
Cther operating lease rentals

Defined contribution pension cost

2020
£000

275
838
2,626
1,056
1,109

2019
£000

455
569

(1,899)
1,412
1,260
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Auditor's remuneration

Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates in connection with the Company's pension
scheme(s) in respect of:

2020 2019

£000 £000

The audit of the Company's financial statements 83 68
Audit related services 34 31
117 99

In respect of non-audit services provided to the company, during the year the fees payable to the auditors
were £445 (2019: £nil) for assistance with registration at the Swedish companies registration office. Fees
payable to the auditors for the audit of fellow group companies, which were borne by the company, were
£85,850 (2019: £40,000). Fees payable to the auditors for audit related assurance services of fellow
group companies, which were borne by the company, were £5,850 (2019: £nil),
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10.

Employees

Staff costs were as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 19,592 22 552
Social security costs 2,842 3,025
Cost of defined contribution scheme 1,109 1,260

23,543 26,837

The figures above do not include amounts paid through the MSX International Limited payroll that are
recharged to other group companies. In 2020 staff cosis paid by the company that were recharged
amounted to salaries (less government COVID-19 contributions) of £410,000 (2019; £323,000), social
security costs of £65,000 (2019: £38,000) and defined contribution pension costs of £7,000 (20719.
£12,000).

The average monthly number of employees, including the directors, during the year was as follows:

2020 2019

No. No.

Office and management 84 79
Consultants and engineers 480 479
Selling and recruitment 1 1
565 559

During the year, no director received any emoluments from the Company. Director costs for those who
served during the year were borne by other group companies. (2018 - £NIL).

Income from investments

2020 2019

£000 £000

Dividends received from shares in group undertakings {2,038) {1,786)
{2,038) {1,786)
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11.

12,

13.

Interest receivable

Interest receivable from group companies
Foreign exchange gain on group borrowings

Interest payable and similar expenses

Bank interest payable

Other foan interest payable
Loans from group undertakings
Fareign exchange on group loans
Share of associates

Taxation

Foreign tax

Foreign tax on incame for the year

Total current tax

Deferred tax

Total deferred tax

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities

2020 2019
£000 £000
3,720 6,690
- 11,837
3,720 18,527
2020 2019
£000 £000
345 139
1 2
6,948 12,284
5,607 -
- 6
12,901 12,431
2020 2019
£000 £000
511 498
511 498
511 498
511 498
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13.

Taxation (continued)

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The corporation tax rate in the UK was 18% for the tax year 2020-21 (2019-20 - 19%). Ihe tax assessed
for the year is lower than (2019 - Jower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2019

- 19%). The differences are explained below:

{Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax

{Loss)/prafit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK of 19% (2019 - 19%)

Effects of:

Non-tax deductible impairment

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes, other than goadwill amortisation
and impairment

Capital allowances for year in excess of depreciation

Foreign taxes on overseas earnings

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods

Dividends from EU companies

Exempt foreign branch net (profits)

Unrelieved tax losses carried forward/{utilisation of b/fwd tax losses)
Group relief

Corporate interest restriction

Total tax charge for the year

Factors that may affect future tax charges

2020 2019
£000 £000
(19,493) 9,727
(3,704) 1,848
1,911 -
77 .
(102) -
511 498
- 87
(387) (340)
(449) (388)
2,086 (1,207)
79 -
489 -
511 498

At the year end the company had trading losses carried forward of £21,540,000 (2019: £10,562,000). No
related deferred tax asset at a rate of 19%, of £4,093,000 (2018: £2,007,000) has been recognised as it

is not foreseeable that these losses will be utilised and the asset recovered.

The March 2021 Budget announced a further increase to the main UK rate of corporation tax to 25% from
April 2023. This rate has not been substantially enacted at the balance sheet date. As a result any
potential deferred tax asset balances as at 31 December 2020 continues to be measured at 19%.
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14.

intangible assets

Deveiopment
Software software Total
£000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 January 2020 - 8,376 8,376
Additions 776 476 1,252
Disposals - (23) (23}
Foreign exchange movement - 1 1
At 31 December 2020 776 8,830 9,606
Amortisation
At 1 January 2020 - 3,677 3,677
Charge for the year on owned assets 130 708 838
At 31 December 2020 130 4,385 4,515
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 646 4,445 5,091

Al 31 December 2019 - 4,699 4 699
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15.

Tangible fixed assets

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2020
Additions

Disposals

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2020

Depreciation

At 1 January 2020

Charge for the year on owned assets
Disposals

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2020

Net book value

At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2019

Fixtures and Other fixed

fittings assets Total
£000 £000 £000
616 4175 4,791
13 377 390
{516) (1,559) (2,075)
6 12 18
119 3,005 3,124
573 3,414 3,987
17 258 275
(516) {1,179) {1,695)
5 - 5
79 2,493 2,572
40 512 552
42 761 803

Page 39



MSX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

16.

Fixed asset investments

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2020

Interest

Repayment

Foreign Exchange movement
Transfer to cusrent assets

At 31 December 2020

Impairment
Charge for the period

At 31 December 2020

Net book value

At 31 December 2020

Af 31 December 2019

Investments
in
subsidiary Loans to
companies subsidiaries Total
£000 £000 £000
323,900 85,822 409,722
- 2,765 2,765
- {22,758) {22,758)
- (1,042) (1,042)
- (3,425) {3,425)
323,900 61,362 385,262
10,059 - 10,059
10,059 - 10,059
313,841 61,362 375,203
323,900 85,822 409,722

An impairment of £10,059,000 has been booked against the investment held in Impetus Automaotive
Limited reducing the investment from £32 6 million to £22.5 million. The trigger for the impairment review
was a result of the reduction in trading due to COVID-19 experienced during 2020, and the expected
future performance of its contracts combined with the transfer of trade and assets from 1 January 2021.
The impairment was calculated based upon a discounted cash flow using a discount rate of 10%.

The transfer to current assets relates to the reclassification of certain amounts owed by group
undertakings to reflect the nature and time of expected settlement based on managements expectations

at the year end.
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16.

Fixed asset investments (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings

The following were subsidiary undertakings of the Company:

Name

Go-on Kfz Service GmbH

Impetus Automotive Consulting (Beijing) Co Ltd

Impetus Autamative GmbH

Impetus Automotive Limited**

Impetus Autometive Pty Ltd
MSX International Business Services France SAS
{France)

MSX International Business Solutions Pty Ltd. (South
Africa)**

MSX International do Brasil Ltda

MSX International GmbH (Germany)**

MSX International Holdings Italia S.r.l. (Italy)

MSX International K.K. (Japan)

Registered office

Hugo-Eckener-Str,
2050829 Kaln
Germany

Office No 1562 NCI
Tower, 12a
Jianguomenwai
Avenue, 100022
Beijing, China

Bismarckstrafte 30,
64668 Rimbach,
Germany

Impetus Automotive
Taurnament Court,
Edgehill Drive,
Warwick, CV34 6LG,
UK

75 Wensleydale Drive,
Mornington, Victaria
3831, Australia

4 avenue Pablo Picasso,

92000 Nanterre,
France

4th Floor Aloe Grove, 2
QOsborn Road,
Houghton Estate,

OfficePark, 2196 South

Africa

Rua Amazonas, 4399
Floor Room 180Sa0
Caetano do Sul-
SPCEP 09.520-070
Brasil

Ossendorf -Technology
CentreHugo-Eckener-
Str. 2050829 Kaln
Germany

Viale Alexandre Gustave
Eiffel 13/15 Roma Italy

Level 2 Sengakuji

Success Building2-20-

29 TakanawaMinato-
Ku Tokyo 108-0074
Japan

Class of
shares

Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Holding
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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16.

Fixed asset investments (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings {continued)

Name
MSX International Limited (Thailand)**

MSX International Sweden AB
MSX International TechServices, S.L. (Spain}**
MSX Ricerca & Selezione S.r.l. (ltaly)

MSXI Netherlands Bv**

MSXI| RNS Brasil Training and Process Outsourcing

Ltda

MSXI TRABALHO TEMPORARIO LTDA. (Brazil)

MSXI TRABALHO TEMPORARIO LTDA. (Brazil)

MSXI TRABALHO TEMPORARIO LTDA. (Brazil)

MSXI TRABALHO TEMPORARIO LTDA. (Brazil)

MSXI TRABALHO TEMPORARIO LTDA. (Brazil)

Class of
Registered office shares

10/168 Trendy Building, Ordinary
20th FloorUnit 20 -nua
Sukhumvit 13,
sukhumvit RdKlongton.

Wattana Bankok 10110
Thailand

Drakegatan 7Géteborg, Ordinary
Sweden 412 50

Madrid, La Resina No.  Ordinary
29-C, Nave 3, Spain

Via Calvi, 300071 Ordinary
Pomezia Roma ltaly

Van't Hoffstraat 263863 Ordinary
AX Nijkerk The
Netherlands

Rua Amazonas, 4399  Ordinary
Floor Room 915a0
Caetano do Sul-

SPCEP 09.520-070
Brasil

Rua Amazonas, 439 16 Ordinary
Floor Room 16808Sao
Caetano do Sul-

SPCEP 09.520-070
Brazil

Rua Amazonas, 439 16 Ordinary
Floor Room 1605a0
Caetano do Sui-

SPCEP 08.520-070
Brazil

Rua Amazonas, 439 16 Ordinary
Floor Room 160Sac
Caetano do Sul-

SPCEP 08.520-070
Brazil

Rua Amazonas, 439 16 Ordinary
Floor Room 160Sa0
Caetano do Sul-

SPCEP 09.520-070
Brazil

Rua Amazaonas, 439 16 Ordinary
Floor Room 160%ac
Caetano do Sul-

SPCEP 09.520-070
Brazil

Holding
99.97%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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186.

Fixed asset investments (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings {continued)

Name

Pacific Technology Solutions, LLC

Pacific Technology Solutions, LLC

Pacific Technology Solutions, LLC

Pacific Technology Solutions, LLC

Pacific Technology Solutions, LLC

Roland Sewells and Associates South Africa
Proprietary Unlimited {South Africa)

Sewells (Thailand) Ltd

Sewells Asia Holdings Pte Ltd (Singapore)

Sewells Group India Private Limited

Registered office

15530 Raockfield

Boulevard

Suite B4

Irvine, CA 92618
15530 Raockfield

Boulevard

Suite B4

Irving, CA 92618
15530 Rockfield

Boulevard

Suite B4

Irvine, CA 92618
15530 Rockfield

Boulevard

Suite B4

Irvine, CA 92618
15530 Rockfield

Boulevard

Suite B4

Irvine, CA 92618

1st Floor, Block A, La
Rocca Office Park, 321
Main Road, Bryanston,
Johannesburg, South

Africa 2021

571 RSU Tower10th
floor Unit 4-50ffice
Number 1001
Sukhumvit
31Sukhumvit

RoadWattana, Long

ton-nue Bangkok
10110 Thailand

Class of
shares

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

30 Raffles Place #19-04 Ordinary

Chevron House
Singapore 048822

101, Building 6, Sector 3, Ordinary

Millenium Business
Park, MIDC, Mahape,
Navi Mumbai, India

400701

** Denotes the subsidiary listed above is a direct subsidiary of the company.

Holding
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

99.8%

100%

68.45%
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17.

18.

Debhtors

Due within one year

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors

Prepayments and accrued income

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand

2020 2019
£000 £000
2,270 3,857
19,469 5,055
32 236
3,945 7,206
25716 16,354
2020 2019
£000 £000
7,426 2,218
7,426 2,218

Cash at bank includes £1,484,981 restricted cash (2019: £98,790), pledged tc Credit Agricole under the

existing factoring agreement.
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19.

20.

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2020 2019

£000 £000
Trade creditors 2,785 14,011
Amounts owed to group undertakings 362,445 355,767
Amounts owed to joint ventures 325 -
Corporation tax 130 104
Other taxation and social security 1,579 732
Proceeds of factored debts 1,485 -
Other creditors 1,835 1,499
Accruals and deferred income 3,221 1,636
Share capital treated as debt 390 390

374,195 374,039

Secured Loans

The company's parent company Pacific (BC) Tepco 5 Limited has a senior facilities agreement
underwritten by Nomura Bank International plc, Nomura International plc, HSBC Bank plc and Royal
Bank of Canada. The agreement is secured on the assets of several group companies; the company
itself, Pacific (BC) Bideo Limited, MSXl UK Limited, MSX International GmbH {Germany), MSX
International Techservices S.L. (Spain), MSX International Business Services France SA, MSX
International Holdings ltalia S.R.L., Pacific (BC) Hedgeco Limited, Patron (BC) Bidco Limited, Pacific
Holdco Inc. US, MSX IHC LLC {(US), MSX International Inc {US), MSX International (Holdings) Inc and
MSX Americas Inc. The security provided includes: A share pledge agreement entered into between
company and its lenders in relation to shares in the 100% subsidiary MSX International GmhH
(Germany); A charge over the shares in the 100% subsidiary MSX International Techservices SL; Fixed
charges over the assets of the company.

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2020 2019

£000 £000

Share capital treated as debt 260 260
260 260
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21.

22,

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Calied up share capital

Alloted, called up and fully paid
14,180,000 ordinary shares of £1 each

17,500 9% cumulative convertible redeemable preference shares of £1
each

Preference shares classified as
Equity
Debt

2020 2019
£000 £000
91,244 102,705
372,256 373,134
2020 2019
£000 £000
14,180 14,180
18 18
14,198 14,198
2020 2019
£000 £000

2 2

186 16

18 18

The holders of the preference shares can convert their holdings into ordinary shares on a one for one
basis. The caonversion must take place within 28 days of nctice being given. The preference shares can
be redeemed for the value that they were originally acquired, at the option of the preference shareholder
with six months notice. Only 5,250 shares can be redeemed in any six month period. The preference
share holder MSXI UK Limited has waived its right to receive any preference dividends before such a
time, as determined by the directors of MSX International Limited, that dividends are declared and then

due for payment.

The company's preference shares carry no voting rights, but preference shareholders have the right,
unless waived, to first to receive dividends and repayments of capital ahead of the ordinary shareholders.
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23.

Pension commitments

The company operates a defined contribution scheme for its employees. The company made
contributions to employees' persanal pension plans of £1,109,286 (2019: £1,259,939).

The company operates a defined benefit scheme in the UK. Benefits ceased to accrue with effect from 31
January 2004. A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 1 October 2014 and updated to 31 December

2020 by a qualified actuary, independent of the scheme's sponsoring employer.

Reconciliation of present value of plan liabilities:

Reconciliation of present value of plan liabilities

At the beginning of the year
Interest income

Actuarial gains/losses
Benefits paid

At the end of the year

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets:

At the beginning of the year
Interest income

Actuarial gains/losses
Benefits paid

At the end of the year

2020 2019
£000 £000
1,330 1,232
26 34
114 108
(45) (44)
1,425 1,330
2020 2019
£000 £000
1,716 1,615
26 34
146 211
(45) (44)
1,843 1,716
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23.

Pension commitments (continued)

Compasition of plan assets:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Equities 1,312 1,152
Bonds 239 270
Absolute return 179 158
Property 36 58
Commeadities 44 )
Cash 33 77
Total plan assets 1,843 1,716
2020 2019
£000 £000
Fair value of plan assets 1,843 1,716
Present value of plan liabilities (1,425) (1,330)
Unrecognised (surplus) (418) (386)
Net pension scheme liability - -
No amounts have been recognised in the profit or loss.
The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:
Total
Actual return on scheme assets 172 245
172 245
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23.

24,

Pension commitments {continued}

The company expects to cantribute £NIL to its Defined benefit pension scheme in 2021.

Principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date (expressed as weighted
averages):

2020 2013

% %

Discount rate 1.3 20

Future salary increases 2.3 2.4

Inflation assumption 2.8 29
Mortality rates

- for a male aged 65 now 87.6 87.5

- at 65 for a male aged 45 now 89.8 89.7

- for a female aged 65 now 88.7 88.6

- at 65 for a female member aged 45 now 91.0 80.9

Contingent Liabilities

The company has been responding to questions from HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) in a check of
the company's 2015 and 2016 corporation tax returns. The enquiry has focussed on the deductibility of
interest charges arising fram the restructuring exercise that took place in this period. The position had
not been agreed at the time of preparing these accounts. The company’s view is that any amendments
arising from the enguiry would only reduce the availability of tax losses carried forward with no effect on
tax paid or payable, Additionally, no recognition of these losses had been made through deferred tax so
there would be no change in the deferred tax balances or charges. The company has co-operated fuily
with HMRC in their enquiry and whilst penalties potentially ranging from £nil to approx. £709k could be
levied, management believes that the likelihood of such penalties being charged by HMRC and
becoming payable on any misstatement is low. Management assess that the most probable outcome is
that no penalties will became payable.
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25.

26,

27.

Commitments under operating leases

At 31 December 2020 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Land and Buildings
Not later than 1 year 522 506
Later than 1 year and not fater than 5 years 856 1,350
1,378 1,856
2020 2019
£000 £000
Motor Vehicles
Not later than 1 year 222 285
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 210 81
432 366

Other Financial Commitments

The MSX International Group - specifically the company's indirect parent company Pacific (BC) Topco 5
Limited - has a senior facilities agreement underwritten by Nomura Bank International plc, Nomura
International plc, HSBC Bank plc and Royal Bank of Canada. The facility includes loans of Euro
498,000,000 and US$50,000,000 and access to a revolving facility of US$ 75,000,000, The agreement is
secured on the assets of several group companies; Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited, MSXI UK Limited, MSX
International Limited {the company), MSX International GmbH (Germany), MSX International
Techservices S.L. (Spain), MSX International Business Services France SA, MSX International Holdings
Italia S.R.L., Pacific {BC) Hedgeco Limited, Patron {BC) Bidco, Pacific Holdco Inc. US, MSX IHC LLC
(US), MSX International Inc (US), MSX International {Holdings) Inc, MSX Americas Inc. The termination
date for the loan is 6th January 2024 which was extended to 6th January 2026 in February 2022 as set
out in note 28, The security provided includes: A share pledge agreement entered into between company
and its lenders in relation to shares in the 100% subsidiary MSX International GmbH; A charge over the
shares in the 100% subsidiary MSX International Techservices SL; Fixed charges over the assets of the
company.

On 17 June 2019 the company entered into a factoring agreement with Credit Agricole, with Credit
Agricole advancing funds secured on the company's trade debtors.

Related party transactions

Key management personnel includes both the directars who together have authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company. The costs for key management
compensation are allocated to and bourne by other group undertakings. As such, the total compensation
paid to key management personnel for services provided to the company was £nil {2013 - £nil).
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29,

Post balance sheet events

From 1 January 2021, The Directors have made the strategic decision to transfer the trade and assets
from Impetus Automotive to the Company. The Directors have taken this decision as there are significant
cost savings available by combining the twa entities die to the similarity in the principal activities of the
two companies.

In February 2022 the group undertook a refinancing to extend the maturity of its existing facilities with no
change in the total indebtedness as follows:

On 24 February 2022 the group amended and restated the Senior Facility Agreement, extending the
maturity of a proportion of its Term Loans by two years, to 6 January 2028 from 6 January 2024, €475.0
million of Euro-denominated term loans and $48.3 million USD-denominated term loans were extended,
with applicable margins of 4.75% and 5.0%, respectively. Existing term loans totalling €24.6 million
remained outstanding and due at the original maturity of 6 January 2024. In addition, the maturity of the
group’s muilticurrency revolving credit facility was extended by 2.5 years to 6 July 2025 from & January
2023.

In connection with amendments to the group’s Senior Facility Agreement, as amended, the group
amended the PIK Facility Agreement. The term was extended to 6 July 2026 from 6 January 2025, and
Term SOFR was introduced as the reference rate.

Parent company and ultimate parent company
MSX!I UK Limited is the immediate parent company as at the balance sheet date.

The smallest and largest group of undertakings for which group accounts have been drawn up as at 31
December 2020 is that headed by Pacific (BC) TopCo Limited a company registered in Jersey. The
consalidated financial statements of Pacific (BC) TopCe Limited have been fited with the Registrar of
Companies {(England and Wales) with these accounts and are available from Registrar of Companies
{England and Wales), Companies House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ.

The directors consider Pacific (BC) TopCo S.ar.l a company registered in Luxembourg, to be the
ultimate parent company of the group.

Bain Capital Europe Fund IV LP is the ultimate controlling party.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Board of Direclors
Pacific (BC) TopCo Limited
Colchester, United Kingdom

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pacific (BC) TopCo Limited and its subsidiaries (the
Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for the
years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consclidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
Amcrica (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independenti of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant
ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of consolidaled financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the apgregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the conselidated financial statements are issued
or available to be issued,

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is notl absolute assurance and
thercfore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting & material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for onme resulting from error, as {raud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of interpal control, Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelithood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

BDO USA, LLP, a Delaware limited liability partnership, is the U.5. member of BDO International Limited. a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the
fnternational BCO network of independent member firms.

BDO is the brand name for the BDO network and far each of the BOO Member Firms.



In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

s Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

o [dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive (o those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.

e (btain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Companys internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

*  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there arc conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going c¢oncern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.

ELO UsA, Lp

Troy, Michigan
April 27. 2021



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assats:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net (Note 4)
Prepaid expenses and other assers
Income 1ax recoverable, net
Tolal current assets

Property and equipment, net (Note 5)

Goodwill {(Note 6)

Other imtangibles, net (Note 6)

Other assets

Deferred income taxes, net (Note 14)
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities,
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8)
Accounts payable and drafts {(Note 11)
Accrued payroll and benefirg
Other accrued liabilittes (Note 7)
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt (Note 8)

Other long-term Labihities

Deferrad income taxes, net {Note 14)
Total habilities

Shareholders' equity
Pacific {BC) TopCo Limited shareholders' equity
Common Stock, € 1 00 par value*
Accumulated other comprehensive (10ss) income
Accumulated loss
Total Pacific (BC) TopCo Limited shareholdars equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

December 31,

December 31,

2020 2019
$ 133198 $ 59566
458,035 413,533
10,956 12,741
9262 ;
611471 485 842
34,175 30,074
545821 543,821
305,128 345,284
5935 5307
3.84% 7628
$ 1,511,398 $ 1419956
$ 31500 $ .
519,143 476,144
40.188 25112
62,083 58,743
672,914 559,999
705863 632,221
532 4
72,320 $3.884
1,451,634 1,276,108
187,841 187,841
{4,798) 6,158
{123317) {30,189
59728 143,810
38 38
39,764 143,348
$ 1511308 $ 1419956

YAt December 31, 2020 and Decemtbor 31, 2019 200,060,000 shares auihorsed: 177,138,186 shares issued and outstanding

The accompanyng notes are an integral part of the consohdaled financiul statements



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

{Amounts in thousands)

For the Fiscal For the Fiscal
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31,2020 December 31,2019
et sales $ 438,843 b 334014
Cost of sales 338,198 441 361
Grass profit 120,650 142,633
Selling, general and administrative expenses 12407 79,596
Amartization of intangibles (Note 6) 40,136 39941
Loss on sate of business (Note 6) 569 10,573
Incame from operations before interest and other expense.
nome tax provision {benefit) and non-controlling imterest 7518 12,543
Cash interest expense {Note 8) 34,499 33 867
Non-cash interest and other expense (income), net ( Note 8) 31236 13,759)
Lass fram operations before
iname tax provision and non-controlling imterest (78231 17.565)
Income tax (henefit) prowsion{ Note 14) 13,109) 8,187
Net loss 173,128 (13,752
Less Net [oss artributable ro the
noncentrolling interest -
Net foss attribuable ta Pacific (RC) TopCo Limited (73,1281 113,732)
Other comprehensive lass, net of tas,
Foreign currency translation adjustments 110,935] (14,346}
Total comprehensive foss 5 184,084 3 {30,098)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{(Amounts in thousands)

For the Fiscal

For the Fiscal

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2020 December 31,2019
Cash Tows from operating activities'
Net loss ¥ {73,128) (15.752)
Adjustments to reconcile loss to net cash
provided by aperating activities'
Fareign currency loss (gain) (Note 8} 38221 (24,231}
Loss onsale of business 569 10,573
Depreciation 8,063 6,781
Amortization of intangible assets 40,156 39941
Amortization of debt issuance costs 5,151 4908
Payment in kind interest 6010 5,565
Deferred income taxes (13,333) 16,156}
{[ncrease) decrease inreceivables, net (41,125) 53.174
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other asscts 1,519 2814
Increase {decrease) increase incurrent liabilities 59,736 (54,644)
Changes in book overdrafts, net (12,927 3905
Decrease in long-term lrabilities and other, net {108) (50)
Net cash provided by operating activities 18804 26,828
Casgh flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures {10,845) {15954)
Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired (1,494) {11,577)
Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash sold (&15) 11,951
Net cash used for mnvesting activities (12,390) {15,580)
Cash flows from financing activities.
Proceeds from issuance of debt 13,462 224,145
Contribution from parent - 947
Payments for debt issuance costs (6143 (5.245)
Changes in revolving debt, net 51,500 {50,338)
Repayment of long-term debt - (167,799)
Net cash prowided by financing activities 64,348 1,210
Effect of fareign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,870 1,083
Cash and cash equivalents:
Increase tor the period 73,632 13,541
Balance, beginning of period 59.566 46,023
Balance, end of period % 133,158 59,566
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 33,989 35,543
Cash paid for income Laxes, net 13,253 32781

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



Balance at Decemper 31, 2018

Contribubon from parent
Compretensiie loss

Netloss

Fareign cartency translaton
Totat comprehensive koss
Balance at December 31, 2019

Comprehensine lass

Net loss

Fareign currency translation
Tata! conprehemsive Joss
Balance at December 31, 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS'® EQUITY

PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED

(Amounts in thousands)

Accwnlated Tartal
Other Pacific (BC) TopCa Limited Now Tatal

Comprehensive Aceumalated Inc, Sharehalders’ Controlling Shareholders’

Comman Stock Income {Lass) {Lass) Profit Eruity (Deficic) Interest Fauily (Deficit)
$ 186.894 $ wind 8 (34437 172961 [EH ] 172,904
947 94 947
{13,731} {15730 - {15.75)
(14 340) (14.346) 93 142313
(30.098) 93 130.003)
$ 187841 & 6158 3 (30 189} 143,810 33 143848
(73 128) (73,128) {73.123)
(10.956) £10.956) 10,9361
(84.084) . (84,084)
$ 187841 § 4758 3 (123317 39 726 3 3 39,764

The accompanying nofes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the assets and liabilities, and results
of operations of Pacific (BC) Topco Limited and its majority-owned subsidiarics, which operate globally
under variations of the names MSX International, Inc. or Geometric Results, Inc.

Pacific (BC) Topco Limited is a holding company. Operating subsidiaries and branches located in
Europe, North America, Asia-Pacific, and South America provide business process outsourcing ("BPO”) in
the form of retail network solutions to automotive OEMs, managed service provider (“MSP™) solutions for
extended workforce management across many industries, and technical contingent staffing and training
scrvices to automobile manufacturers, their dealers and suppliers.

On January 6, 2017, the Company s predecessor, MSX-IBS Holdings, Inc., was acquired pursuant
to an Agreement and Plan of Mergers dated November 8, 2016 by and among MSX-IBS Holdings, Inc.. a
direct subsidiary MSX-11C, LLC, another indirect subsidiary, and entities organized by the purchaser.
Concurrently, the structure of the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries was modified and reorganized
under two newly-formed companies, Pacific (BC) Bidco Limited, a UK company, and Pacific loldco, Inc.,
a Delaware company. Pacific (BC) Topco Limited is a UK company resident for tax purposes in Jersey.

2. Significant Accounting Policies:

a. Principles of Consolidation. The accompanying financial stalements include the accounts of
Pacific {BC) TopCo Limited and all majority owned subsidiaries. Significant intercompany transactions
have been eliminated.

b.  Cash and Cash Equivalenrs. All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of threce
months or less are considered to be cash equivalents. Cash balances in selected bank accounts in the
United States may be in excess of amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. Selected
bank accounts in certain markets are subject to pledges in connection with the Company’s non-recourse
accounts receivable factoring program; related customer collections are immediately forwarded to the
financing institution involved in the program.

c. Accounts Receivable. Accounts receivable are presented net of allowances for uncollectible
accounts of less than $0.1 million as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The Company records
an allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable based on historical loss experience, customer payment
patterns and current cconomic trends. The Company reviews the adequacy of the aliowance for
uncollectible accounts receivable on a quarterly basis and, if necessary, increases or decreases the balance.
See Note 4 for a discussion of the Company’s factoring arrangement.

d. Property and Fguipment. Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are
recorded at cost. Maintenance and repair costs are charged o expense as incurred. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of assets as follows:

Useful Lives
In Years
Buildings and leasehold ImProvements ... et ne e esne s eseeseis 5-39
Machinery and eqUIPMENt ....cuiiiiiiii s e b
Computers, peripherals and softwarc
Automobiles and trucks ..

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives or
the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.,



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted

c.  Goodwill and Other Intangibles. Goodwill is not amortized and represents the excess of
purchase price over net assets acquired. Management evaluates the recoverability of goodwill when events
or circumstances warrant such a review, and it any case, annually during the fourth quarter of each year.

In its annual assessment, the Company has the option first to assess qualitative factors to determine whether
it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, including
goodwill. This review includes, but is not limited to, an evaluation of the macroeconomic, industry, or
market, and cost factors relevant to the reporting unit as well as financial performance and entity or
reporting unit events that may affect the value of the reporting unit. If this review leads to the determination
that it is more [ikely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount,
further impairment testing is not required. However, if this review cannot support a conclusion that it is
more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, or at our
discretion, quantitative impairment steps are performed. The quantitative portion of the impairment test
compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to
the excess, up to the value of goodwill in accordance with the Company’s early adoption of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-04 - Simplifying the Test for
Goodwill Impairment. The Company performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill impairment
concluding that there was no impairment as of December 31, 2020 as the fair value of the Company’s
reporting units exceeded the respective carrying values. Other intangibles include customer related
intangibles, trademarks, and technology, and are amortized over three to nineteen years. Other intangible
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
arnount of an asset or assct group may not be recoverable, Recoverability of intangible assets subject to
amortization is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset or asset group to estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or assct group. The estimated cash
flows include management’s assumptions of cash inflows and outflows directly resulting from the use of
that asset or assel group in operations. [f the carrying amount of an assel or asset group exceeds its
cstimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset or asset group exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset or asset group. Other
intangibles were not impaired during 2020 or 2019.

f.  Debr Issuarice Costs. Debt issuance costs are deferred {(included with debt) and amontized
over the term of the related debt into interest expense on a siraight-line basis, which approximates the
effective interest method.

g. Iavesimenis. For investments accounted for using the cost and equity methods of accounting,
management evaluates information (¢.g., budgets, business plans, financial stalements, etc.) in addition to
quoted market price, if any, in determining whether an other-than-temporary decline in value exists.
Factors indicative of an other-than-temporary decline include recurring operating losses, credit defaults and
subsequent rounds of financings al an amount below the cost basis of an investment. This list is not all-
inclusive, and management weighs all qualitative factors in determining if an other-than temporary decline
in value of an investment has occurred.  For investments accounted for under the equity method, the
carrving amount of the investment is increased or decreased to recognize the Company’s share of the profit
or loss of the investee. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 the value of such investments
totaled $4.6 million and is included with other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. See
Note 3 for a discussion of the investment activity for 2020 and 2019.

h.  Reserves for Self-Insured Risk. 'The Company is sclf-insured for a significant portion of its
health insurance. The Company was self-insured for workers® compensation until April 15, 2008; at which
time. the Company entered into a guaranteed contract with The Hartford and a reinsurance agreement with
Archway Insurance. In March 2(}14 the contract with The Hartford ended and was replaced by a
guaranteed cost contract with Old Republic Insurance Company. Under its current self-insurance program,
the Company is responsible for up to $250,000 of health insurance claims per person per year.



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Dolkars in thousands unless otherwise noted

Remaining estimated self-insurance costs arc acerued for incurred claims and claims incurred
but not yet reported. Factors considered in estimating the insurance reserves are the nature of outstanding
claims including the severity of the claims, costs to scttle existing claims, loss history and inflation, as well
as estimates provided by third party actuaries. Significant changes in the factors described above could
have a material adverse impact on future opcrating results. The accrual at December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 was $0.2 million and $0.3 million respectively.

i, Fair Value of Financial {nstruments. The estimated fair value of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and debt approximate their carrying amounts. The estimated fair
value of other current assets and liabilities are reported in Note 10.

j. Foreign Currency Transiation and Transactions. Net assets of operations outside of the 1.5,
are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates at the end of the fiscal year with the effects of
translation adjustments included in shareholders’ cquity as a separate component of comprehensive income.
Ry enues and expenses of operations outside of the U.S. are translated at the average rates of exchange
during the period. Gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of a particular cntity are included in income. These transaction gains and losses are
included in interest and other expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

k. Reverue Recogrition. On January 1, 2019 the Company adopted the Financial Accounting
Standards Board FASB, Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topie 606 - Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“ASC 606™) and concluded that the Company has three separate revenue streams: MSX - BPO
services; GRI - MSP solutions, and staffing and training. ASC 606 was adopted on a modified
retrospective method and did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. The
Company generates BPO services across multiple countrics in North America, Europe and Asia. MSP
solutions are provided in multiple countries, with concentrated presence in the USA and United Kingdom.
Staffing and training is based in Brazil.

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to our
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect 1o be entitled to in exchange for
those services. Revenue from services and the related direct costs are recorded in accordance with the
accounting guidance on reporting revenue gross as a principal versus net as an agent. When the
Company 1s the principal, it demonstrates control over the service by being the employer of record for
the individuals performing the service, by being primarily responsible 1o the customers and by having
a level of discretion in establishing pricing in which the gross amount is recorded as revenues. When
the Company arranges for other conlingent labor suppliers and/or service providers to perform
services for the customer, the Company does not control those services before they are transferred,
and only the net amount is recorded as revenue. The amounts recorded as revenue are the amounts
billed to the customers less the amounts paid to the secondary suppliers/service providers,

MSX

MSX provides BPO {business process outsourcing) and other services primarily to the automotive
industry. These Services consist of warranty ¢claim management, channel management, parts and services
sales optimization, customer engagement and fleet mobility, provided to global OEMs. Revenue is
primarily comprised of revenue from time and material contracts and fixed price contracts. Revenucs from
time and material contracts and fixed price contracts are recognized in the period in which services are
provided and control passes to the customer based on contractual billing rates as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits. Revenue is recognized on a gross basis since the
company is acting as principal in these transactions.

The Company has elected the “as-invoiced™ practical expedient to recognize revenue as they have
the right to payment in an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the performance completed to
date according to the fixed price contract. In all cases, the total transaction price for & contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The

11



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted

transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third partics. The Company
typically satisfies the contractual performance obligations as services rendered (on a weekly or monthly
basis).

GRI

GRI provides MSP solutions, which are a BPO relating to the provision of management of labor
and other employee services to the Company’s customers. Revenue is primarily comprised of fixed
management contracts and fee based contracts. Revenue is recognized on a net basis since the company is
acting as agent in these transactions.

The Company has elected the “as-invoiced” practical expedient to recognize revenue as they have
the right to payment in an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the performance completed to
date according to the fixed price contract. [n all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
armongst the various performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The
Company typically satisfies the contractual performance obligations as services rendered (on a weekly or
monthly basis).

Technical Staffing

Technical Staffing Services consist of provision of labor and other employee services to the
company’s customers. Revenuc is based on agreed rates for the individual services provided. Revenue is
recognized on a gross basis since the company is acting as principal in these transactions.

The Company has elected the “as-invoiced™ practical expedient to recognize revenue as they have
the right to payment in an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the performance completed to
date according to the fixed price contracl. In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The
Company typically satisfics the contractual performance obligations as services rendered (on a weekly or
monthly basis).

Variable Consideration

Variable consideration included in certain customer contracts is predominantly associated with
meeting specitic key performance indicators (KPIs) related to reduction of costs. Revenues relating to such
arrangements are accounted for as variable consideration when the amount of revenue to be recognized can
be estimated to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of any incremental revenue will not
occur. Provisions for sales allowances (billing adjustments related Lo errors. service issues and
compromises on billing disputes). based on historical experience, are recognized at the time the related sale
is rccognized as a reduction in revenue from services.

Payment Terms and Other

Customer payments are typically due within 30 to 90 days of invoicing but may be shorter or
longer depending on contract terms. Management does not assess whether a contract has a significant
financing component if the expectation at contract inception is that the period between payment by the
customer and the transfer of the services to the customer will be less than one year, We do not have any
significant financing compeonents or extended payment terms.

Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and indirect costs such as indirect labor,
supplies, tools and repairs. Contract liabilities are recognized for consideration received in respect of
unsatisticd performance obligations and are reported as other liabilitics in the balance sheet. Similarly. if
the Company satisfics a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the Company
recognizes either a contract asset or a receivable in its balance shect, depending on whether something
other than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due.



PACIFIC (BC) TOPCO LLIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted

The following table shows the Company’s revenues disaggregated according to the timing of transfer of
goods or services (in millions). Sales (and similar) taxes that are imposed on our sales and coflected from
customers are excluded from revenues:

For the Fiscal For the Fiscal
Year Ended Year Ended

Basis of Revenue Recognition 2020 2019
Revenue Recognized Gross

RNS Services revenue $ 3701 $ 459.1
Total Revenue Recognized Gross b 370.1 $ 459.1
Revenue Recognized Net

MSP Solutions revenue 68.1 72.6

Technical Staffing revenue 206 323
Total revenue recognized Net $ 88.7 $ 1249
Total Revenue $ 458.8 b 5840

All Revenue is recognized as a point in time

Our contract assets and liabilities consist of;
December 31, December 31,

Accounts Receivable 2020 2019
RNS Services revenue $ 390 5 60.1
MSP Solutions revenue 414.1 3481
Technical Staffing revenue 30 33

Total Accounts Receivable $ 458.1 $ 4135

December 31, December 31,

Deferred Revenue {Included in other accrued liabilities) 2020 2019
RNS Services b 94 $ 9.1
Technical Staffing - 0.1

Total Deferred Reverue $ 94 % 92

I.  Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are recorded to reflect the differences between the tax
basis and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilitics and are measured using the enacted tax rates and
laws that will be in effect when the differences arc expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is
recognized to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount management believes is more likely than not to
be realized.

m. Dertvative Contracts. The Company uses derivative contracts periedically 1o manage its
exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency rates and to rates of interest on its borrowings. Thesc contracts
are not hetd for trading purposes and are put into place to hedge specific exposures, Gains and lasses on
these contracts are recognized currently in earnings because they are not designated as hedging instruments
for accounting purposcs.

n.  Use of Fsiimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
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assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Such estimates and assumptions also affect the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results may differ from
such eslimates and assumptions.

0. Recemly Issued Accounting Proncuncements. In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13
amending how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that
are not measured at fair value through net income. The guidance requires the application of a current
expected credit loss model which is a new impairment model based on expected losses, Under this model,
an entity recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses based on historical experience, current
conditions and forecasted information rather than the current methodology of delaying recognition of credit
losses until it is probable a loss has been incurred. This ASU is effective for interim and annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2022 based on FASB guidance issued via ASU 2019-10. The
Company has evaluated the new guidance and it is not expected to have a material effect on its
consolidated financial statements.

In February of 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. Under ASU 2016-02, an entity will
be required to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key
information about leasing arrangements. ASU 2016-02 offers specific accounting guidance {or a lessee, a
lessor and sale and leaseback transactions. l.essees and lessors are required to disclose qualitative and
quantitative information about leasing arrangements to enable a user of the financial statements to assess
the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising {tom leases. This ASU is effective for annual
periods, beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted based on the FASB guidance
issued via 2019-10, We are in the process of evaluating the new guidance on our censolidated financial
position, resulls of operations and cash flows.

P Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements. In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU
2016-18 amending the presentation of restricted cash within the statement of cash {lows. The new guidance
requires that restricted cash be included within cash and cash equivalents on the statement of cash flows.
The ASU is effective retrospectively for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with carly
adoption permitted. The adeption of ASU 2016-18 in 2019 did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15 clarifying how entitics should classify certain
cash receipts and payments on the statemeni of cash flows. The new guidance addresses classification of
cash flows related to the following transactions: 1) debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs; 2)
settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt instruments with coupon interest rates that are
insignificant in relation to the effective interest rate of the borrowing; 3) contingent consideration payments
made after a business combination; 4) proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims; 5} proceeds from
the settlement of corporate owned life insurance policies; 6) distributions received from equity method
investees; and 7) beneficial interests in securitization transaction. ASU 2016-15 also clarifies how the
predominance principle should be applied when cash receipts and cash payments have aspects of more than
one class of cash flows. This ASU is effective for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual
periods, beginning after December 15, 2018 and requires retrospective application. Early adoption is
permitted. The adoption of ASU 2016-15 in 2019 did not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01 amending the current guidance for how entitics
measure certain cquily investments, the accounting for financial liabilitics under the fair value option, and
the presentation and disclosure requirements relating to financial instruments. The new guidance requires
entities to use fair value measurement for equity investments in unconsolidated entities, excluding equity
method investments, and to recognize the changes in fair value in net income at the end of each reporting
period. Under the new standard, for any financial liabilities in which the fair value option has been elected,
the changes in fair value due to instrument-specific credit risk must be recognized separately in other
comprehensive income. Presentation and disclosure requirements under the new guidance require public
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business entities to use the exit price when measuring the fair value of financial instruments measured at
amortized cost. In addition, financial assets and liabilities must now be presented separately in the notes to
the financial statements and grouped by measurcment category and form of financial asset. This A5l is
effective for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15,
2018. The adeption of ASU 2016-01 did not have a matcrial impact on our conselidated financial
statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, that
supersedes the previously existing revenuc recognition guidance under U.S. generally accepled accounting
principles. I'he new standard focuses on creating a single source of revenue guidance for revenue arising
from contracts with customers for all industries. The objective of the new standard is for companies to
recognize revenue when it transfers the promised goods or services to its customers at an amount that
represents whal the company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. This ASU is
effective for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual perieds, beginning on or after
December 15, 2018, See item k. Revenue Recognition in Note 2 for details of the impact of ASU 2014-09
on our consolidated financial statements.

3. Acquisitions and Disposals:

On April 17, 2019 the Company acquired a minority interest in MCON Group (MCON) for
approximately $4.5 million. Based in Munich, Germany, with offices across Europe, Asia, Africa and
North America. MCON has more than twenty years of experience in building and maintaining digital
customer journeys for automotive manufacturers and retailers as well as aiding enterprises to move
infrastructure into the ¢loud. The Company’s investment in MCON lays the toundation for the two
companies 10 leverage each other’s strong positioning in their respective fields to capture shared
opportunities and enhance value for customers across the global automotive landscape. The investment
takes the Company further towards fulfilling its ambition of becorming the partner of choice for its
customers” digital transformation.

The carrying value of the invesiment is included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated
balance shect. The Company’s share of the net income (loss) of MCON during 2020 and 2019 was not
material.

On June 3. 2019 the Company sold 100% of its equity interest in MSX International Staffing, LLC
for a total sale price of approximately $12.0 million. The Company recorded a loss on sale of
approximately $10.6 million during 2019.

On October 9, 2019 the Company acquired Pacific Technology Solutions, LLC (PTS}. Based in
Irvine, California, PTS is a leading provider of e-learning, training development and performance
improvement solutions to the automotive industry. With the acquisition of P1'S, the Company strengthens
its Channel Management product portfolio with P'I'S’s suite of software tools, proven e-learning and
training management platforms. PTS maintains long-standing relationships with world-class automotive
manufacturers, distributors and tier-one suppliers in the United States, helping them reduce overhead costs,
deliver high return on investment and increase customer satisfaction. The purchase price for PTS was
approximately $9.2 million and the acquisition was funded through the Company’s existing borrowing
facilities. The resulls of operations of PTS have been included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date of acquisition.

The purchase price of the transaction was allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities based on
their estimated fair value at the date of acquisition, including identifiable intangible assets, with the
remaining amount being classified as goodwill, which is not deductible [or tax purposes. Included in both
goodwill and liabilities assumed is $1.7 million in contingent consideration.
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The following is an allocation of the purchase price:

Cash and cash equivalents § 1450
Current assets 1,066
Trademark 185
[nternal Software 271
Conlent library 1,416
Custonwr related intangible 2,750
Goodwill 3,847
Total assets acquired 10,985
[ass. liabilitics assumed (1.788)
Net assets acquired 5 9197

During 2019, the Company finalized its purchase accounting for the De Poel acquisition which
resulted in an increase in goodwill and other accrued liabilities of $2.7 million.

On December 18, 2020, the Company disposed of its interest in MSX International [LLC in Russia.
The transaction resulted in a loss on disposal being recognized of $0.6 million.

4. Accounts Receivable, Net:

Accounts receivable includes both billed and unbilled receivables. Amounts are billed
periodically in accordance with contract terms. Unbilled receivables amounted to $151.0 million and
$108.6 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. All such billings are expected
to be collected within the ensuing year. Accounts receivable also include the portion of our billings for
certain master vendor and supply chain management services attributable to services provided by the
Company s vendors, which are passed on to its customers and for which the Company records revenue on a
net basis. These amounts totaled $413.4 million as of December 31, 2020 and $348.2 million as of
December 31, 2019, portions of which are included in unbilled receivables. A corresponding Jiability to
our vendors for these amounts is recorded in accounts payable at the time the related receivables are
recorded and totaled $503.7 million and $467.1 million at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively. Included in such liabilities at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 were $2.9 million
and $0.8 million of liabilities, respectively, related to a vendor management solution partner. At such date,
the Company’s cash and cash equivalents included $2.9 million and $0.8 million respectively, as an offsct
to this liability for December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

In February 2019, the Company entered into a non-recourse factoring agreement to sell trade
accounts receivables owed to MSX subsidiaries in the US, UK, France, Germany, Spain and Italy to an
international financing institution. The agreement accelerates collection of trade accounts receivables
denominated in GBP, EUR and USD at a financing fee of 3-month Euribor (zero floor), plus 75bps, plus
factoring and administrative charges. The maximum total funding amount available from the program
through February 15,2024 is €45 million. At December 31, 2020 and Decermber 31, 2019 the amount of
accelerated funding through the facility totaled approximately $33.5 million and $30.3 million respectively.
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Significant portions of the Company's revenues are delivered 1o manufacturers in the automotive
and transportation related industries. Sales to significant automotive customers, including their automotive
subsidiarics, as a pereent of total net sales were:

Percent of Net Sales

For the Fiscal For the Fiscal
Year Ended Year Ended
Sales to: 2020 2019
Ford 30.3% 31.9%
FCA 8.3% 11.1%
PSA 8.1% 8.2%
Total 46.7% 51.2%

At December 31, 2020 and Dccember 31, 2019, the foregoing three customers and their subsidiaries
accounted for approximately 12% and 15%, respectively, of our billed accounts receivable balance.

5. Property and Equipment, Net:
Property and equipment, net includes the following:

At December 31, At December 31,

2020 2019
Cost:
RBuildings and leaschold improvements $ 3,958 $ 3,269
Machinery and equiprnicnt 2,488 2,952
Computers, peripherals and software 44,058 33,898
50,504 40,119
Less accumulated depreciation {16,329) (10,045)
Property and equipment, net $ 34,175 b 30,074

Depreciation amounted to $8.1 million the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and $6.8 million
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

6. Goodwill and Other Intangibles, Net:

The recoverability of goodwill is evaluated at the reporting unit level, Goodwill is considered
impaired if the book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. The customer related
intangible assets are amortized over ten to nineteen years. Trademark assets are amortized over fifteen
years. Technology assets are amortized over three to ten years. internal software assets are amortized over
three vears, The content library intangible assets are amortized over ten years. Intangible amortization
expense was $40.2 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and $39.9 million for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2019, Inlangible amortization expense is expected to be $40.1 million for the
fiscal year 2021, $39.8 million for the fiscal year 2022, $39.7 million for fiscal years 2023, 2024 and 2025,
and $106.1 miilion thereafter.
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The following summarizes the changes in the Company’s goodwill balances, by reperting unit, as

of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

Balance at December 31,2018
Acquisitions
Dispositicn

Balance at December 31,2019

Acquisition

Balance at December 31,2020

MSX GRI
BPO MSP
Solutions Solutions Total
$ 206,711 § 347641 § 354,332
3,847 2,660 6.507
- (15,038) (15,038)
$ 210,558 $ 335263 $ 545821
$ 210,558 £ 335,263 $ 545821

The following summarizes the Company’s other inlangibles balances as of December 31, 2020

and December 31, 2019:

2020 2019
Gross Gross
Carrying Carrying

Value  Amortiztion Net Value  Amortiztion Net
Customer related intangible  $361345 § (124,115)  $237230  §$3601345 § (91477) $269868
Trademark 64,707 (16,994) 47713 64,707 (12,680) 52,027
Technology 27218 (8.430) 18,788 27218 {3,458) 21,760
Content library 1416 (77 1,239 1,416 (33) 1,381
Internal software 271 (113) 158 271 (23) 248
Total $454957 § (149,829)  $305,128 $434957 § (109,673} §345284

On June 3, 2019 the Company sold 100% of its equity interest in MSX International Staffing, I.I.C
for a total sale price of approximately $12.0 million. MSX International Staffing, LLC was included in the
Human Capital Selutions reporting unit. Goodwill was allocated to the disposal group based on the relative
fair value of MSX International Staffing, 1.1.C to the Human Capital Selutions fair value. The Company
recorded a loss on sale of approximately $10.6 million during 2019. MSX Intemational Staffing, LLC does

not qualify for discontinued operations presentation.
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7. Other Accrued Liabilities:

Other accrued liabilities include the following:

At December 31, At December 31,

2020 2019

Income and other taxes $ - $ 371
Deferred income/advance paymcnts 9386 9.603
Interest 9.151 8,695
Accrued services 21.501 21.808
Accrucd acquisition costs 3,984 4,862
Restructuring - France 9,900 -

Other 8.161 13,402
Total $ 62,083 $ 58,743

Deferred income/advance payments represent both payments from customers received in advance
of revenues recognized and payments received in advance of billings from sub-contract vendors.

8. Debt:

Long-term debt is comprised of the following:

Interest Rates at

December 31, Maturity December 31, December 31,
2020 Date 2020 2019
Outstanding Debt:

Senior ancillary facility #1 5 75% January 6, 2023 $ 19,500 5 -
Semor ancillary facility #2 5.75% January 6,2023 25,000
Senior revolving facility 5.05 - 6.60% January 6, 2023 7,000 -
PIK notes 12.50% January 6. 2023 491461 43220
Term B3 loan 4.50% January 6,2024 608,357 358,507
Term B4 loan 4.98% January 6, 2024 50,000 50.000
Pandemic support loan - Spain 1.99% June 8, 2025 4.276 -
Pandemic supporl loan - France 0.00% See Notes 9,284 -
Capital leases and other 439 536
Unamoritized issuance costs {15,669) {20,042)
Total dett 757.368 632221
Less: cuwrent portion of long-term debt 51,500 -
Long-term debt S 705 868 & 632221

Senior Facility Agreement

On January 6, 2017, the Company borrowed €327.9 million pursuant to a term loan facility
(“Term Loan™) and $35 million pursuant to a then-$75 million multicurrency revolving credit facility
("Revolver™), which may be utilized by any subsidiary that accedes to the underlying senior facility
agrecment (“SFA™) as a borrower. The SFA Revolver matures on January 6, 2023 and is available for
general corporate purposes. The Term Loan has a bullet maturity on January 6, 2024. Borrowings under
the Term Loan bear interest at Euribor (with a zero rate floor), plus an applicable margin. The applicable
margin, established at 5.5% at closing, ratchets based on Topco 5’s Senior Secured Net Leverage Ratio. as
defined in the SFA. Interest periods can be established in one, two, three or six month intervals.

On lanuary 31, 2018, the Company amended and restated the SFA (“SFA Amendment™), resulting

in a €100.0 million, or approximately $118.4 million, increase in the Term Loan outstanding. The applicable
margin on aggregate outstanding Term [oan decreased to 4.75% from 5.3%. with a commensurate 75 basis
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point reduction on each downward ratchet based on the Company’s Senior Secured Net Leverage Ratio, as
defined. On January 9, 2019, the Company completed a substantial refinancing of outstanding SFA
indebtedness (<2019 Refinancing™). The 2019 Refinancing increased aggregate indebtedness, reduced
selected interest rates, and improved alignment of borrowing currencies with regional financial performance.

Funds provided by the 20119 Refinancing included the combination of €498.0 million, or
approximately $366.0 million, of Euro-denominated Term Loans with an original issue discount, or OID,
of 0.9975% (“Term B3} and a $30.0 million, USD-denominated Term Loan with an Q1D of 8.9925%
(“Term B4™), Incremental new funds, net of the rollover of approximately $410.0 million of existing Term
l.oan indebtedness, was used to repay Revelver borrowings totaling approximately $43.9 million, including
accrued interest; to repay approximately $82.1 million of existing Term Loans including accrued interest;
to repay $76.6 million in indebtedness pursuant to the Company’s PIK Facility, and pay rclated debt
issuance costs.

Term L.oan indebtedness continues to bear interesl at Euribor or Libor, based on the denomination
of borrowing (each with a zero rate floor), plus an applicable margin. As a result of the 2019 Refinancing,
the applicable margin on outstanding, Buro-denominated Term B3 was decreased to 4.25% from 4,75%, with
a commensurate 50 basis point reduction on cach downward ratchet based on the Company’s Senior Secured
Net Leverage Ratio, as defined in the SFA. The applicable margin on USD-denominated Term B4 remains
unchanged at 4.735%.

As required by the original 2017 SI'A, the Company entered into a swap contract (o cap the
applicable Euribor base rate on a portion of the Term Loan. On August 20, 2018, the Company enhanced
the interest rale protection, entering into additional interest rate caps on an aggregate €265.0 million of
indebtedness. The derivative instruments cap Term Loan exposure to Furibor base rates at 1.0% through
January 9, 2020 and 1.5% through January 9, 2021.

Borrowings under the SFA Revolver bear interest at LIBOR or EURIBOR. based on the
denomination ol the borrowing, plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin, established at 4.25% at
the initial utilization. is also subject to a ratchet based on the Senior Secured Net Leverage Ratio, as
defined, and a zero rate floor. The ratchet was not changed by the SFA Amendment or the 2019
Refinancing. Utilizations can be drawn in five agreed common currencies, USD, GBP, EUR, CAD and
AUD. Interest periods can be established in one, two, three or six month intervals.

In late March 2020, MSX borrowed substantially all availability pursuant to the SFA Revolver and
the then-available ancillary facility. Incremental indebtedness totaling $73.2 million was borrowed as a
pre-emptive Jiquidity management action in connection with the Company’s COVID-19 pandemic
mitigation response. At December 31, 2020. the Company was in compliance with applicable debt
covenants and unutilized availability, as defined, was $23.0 million.

Indebtedness pursuant to the SFA is secured by guarantees of material subsidiaries and pledges
and grants of continuing security interest in collateral of the guarantor subsidiaries. The SFA contains a
springing Senior Secured Net Leverage covenant, as defined., and a Guarantor Coverage Test, as defined, as
well as customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of default,

Ancillary Agreement — i1

On January 9, 2017, the Company executed an Ancillary Facility Agreement with a separate
lender (“Ancillary Agreement #177), as permitted by the SFA. The Lender’s Ancillary Commitment, as
defined, totals $20 miliion, and reduces availability pursuant to the SFA Revolver to $55 miilion from $75
million. Ancillary Agreement #1, which provides multi-currency borrowing in USD, GBP and EUR,
matures on January 6. 2023, unless accelerated in connection with the SFA.

Twao interest rate options are applicable to advances borrowed pursuant to Ancillary Agreement
#1: Alternative Base Rate Loans and Eurocurrency Loans, as defined. Alternative Base Rate Loans may
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be borrowed on a same-day basis and bear interest at a base rate, as defined, plus an applicable margin,
which ranges based on the leverage ratio in a range from 0.25% to 1.25%. Eurocurrency Loans bear
interest at one, two or threc month [LIBOR rales, subject to a zero rate floor, plus an applicable margin
which ranges from 3.25% to 4.25% based on our Consolidated Senior Secured Net Leverage Ratio, as
defined. At December 31, 2020, unutilized availability, as defined, was $0.5 million.

Ancillary Agreement - #2

On Junc 16, 2020, the Company executed a $25 million Multi Currency Revolving Facility
Agreement with one of its SFA lenders (“Ancillary Agreement #2°), as permitted by the STA. The
Company then borrowed $23 million pursuant to the agreement, with proceeds applied to repay a portion of
SFA Revolver debt outstanding. The Ancillary Commitment, as defined, offsets availability pursuant to the
SFA Revolver and, in combination with Ancillary Agreement #1, reduces aggregate SFA Revolver
availability to $30 million. Ancillary Agreement #2 provides multi-currency borrowing in USD, GBP,
EUR, AUD and CAD. and it matures on January 6, 2023, unless accelcrated in connection with the SFA.
Borrowings pursuant to the agreement bear interest at LIBOR or EURIBOR, as applicable {(and subject to a
zero rate floor), plus the same margin as applicable (o SFA Revolver borrowings. Loans bear interest based
on one, two, three or six-month Interest Periods. At December 31, 2020, the facility remained fully
utilized,

Government-supported Loans in Response to COVID-19 Pandemic

Among actions initiated in March 2020 to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on
liquidity, the Company identified and assessed its eligibility in major operating markets to qualify for
government-sponsored financing programs that were enacted to preserve business activity and mitigate
local job losses. As of December 31, 2020, these efforts resuited in locally-sourced loans in Spain and
France.

Spain: On August 27, 2020, the Company’s subsidiary in Spain received proceeds from a €3.5
million loan from a local bank offered in accordance with Spain’s pandemic relief initiatives. Indebtedness
incurs interest due monthly at 1.99% per annum for the first twelve months. Thereafter, interest and
principal are amortized in equal monthly payments, with final maturity Junc 8, 2025. Proceeds of the loan,
initially held as excess cash, are available to support operations of the business and are subject to
restrictions on certain transactions with affiliates.

France: On November 26, 2020, the Company’s subsidiary in France finalized a €7.6 million
loan. Loan proceeds initially invested as cash are held in anticipation of planned disbursements. Principal
outstanding incurs interest at a 0% {ixed fate and is repayable on the first anniversary of initial funding.
The Company has the option, by giving notice prior to the end of the first year, to choose to amortize the
loan over an additional period of one, twao, three, four or five years. If the Company exercises this option.
principal repayment will be straight-line over the period chosen, plus applicable interest calculated on the
basis of the actual cost incurred by the Bank to finance on the European interbank market. Use of Toan
proceeds are subject to restrictions on transactions with affiliates, including dividends, distributions and
cash pooling arrangements.

PIK Facility

A portion of the consideration paid on January 6, 2017 to acquire MSX-1BS and to refinance the
predecessor’s existing indebtedness was financed through a $77 million investment by a group of
institutional lenders pursuant to a PIK Facility Agreement (“PIK Facility™). In conncction with the
acquisition of Ultium Business Outsourcing Group Limited on January 31, 2018 and concurrent with the
SFA amendment, the Campany raiscd an additional $25 million investment pursuant to the PIK Facility.
The incremental borrowing — a “PIK Additional Facility Loan™ — is permitted under the PIK facility, based
on defined conditions that were satisfied on the borrowing date. In connection with the 2019 Refinancing
of the Senior Facility Agreement, the Company repaid $76.6 million in PIK Facility Indebtedness including
accrued interest.
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The PIK Facility matures January 6, 2025 and accrues PIK interest at LIBOR plus 11.5% with a
1.0% LIBOR floor. Alternatively, cash interest may be paid at LIBOR plus 10.0% with a 1.0% LIBOR floor.
Following the 2019 Refinancing. interest has accrued at the PIK interest rate. The PIK Facility contains
customary affirrative and negative covenants defining permissible dividends, distributions. investments and
other transactions among related partics, including the Company.

Brazil Loan Facility — Banco Itau 8. A.

In February 2008, the Company entered into a eredit agreement with Banco Ttau S.A, The
agreement was amended in December 20116 to increase the line to R$13.0 million. The agreement is
supported by a guarantee from MSX Interpational Netherlands B.V. The interest rate on outstanding
indebtedness, if any, is 2.34% per month and the annually-renewed facility matured on March 22, 2021.
The intention is to renew the facility, but this had not been completed at the date of signing these accounts.

Capital Leases

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has capital lease obligations primarily related to the lease
of computer equipment and software. This lcased equipment is used for internal use as well as the direct
support of customer related programs where the Company is able 10 pass the costs on to its customer.

Other Debt

Certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries maintain lines of credit with local banks to provide
backup liquidity or to finance operational cash flows as nceded. [n general, interest acerues on the lines of
credit at floating rates, as determined by the applicable bank, with amounts outstanding payable on
demand. Asof December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 there was $0.5 million outstanding.

Interest and Other Expense

The Company s non-cash interest and other expense is impacted by changes in foreign exchange
rates on the recorded value of its debt. The translation of the non U.S. dollar denominated intercompany
and external debt resulted in a $38.5 million currency translation loss during fiscal year 2020 and a $25.9
million currency translation gain during fiscal year 2019. These losses and gains arc the result of
appreciation or depreciation in the value of the Euro and British Pound relative to the U.S. dollar during the
respective periods.

The following table summarizes the significant components of the Company’s interest and other
expense:

For the Fiscal For the Fiscal

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, December 31.

2020 2019

Term B Loan $ 29,360 § 28,768
PIK note 6,010 5871
Credit factlities 2903 1,589
Invaice Factonng 1,148 1,036
{Crain) loss on currency translation of debt and acerued interest 33200 (26,074
{Gainy loss on erass-currency coupon swaps and options 1,874 1,842
Debt issuance 3,151 1,908
Other 1,100 2128
Interest and ather expense, net $ 83,733 1 20,108

.
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92 Derivatives and Hedging Activities:

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Periodically, the Company enters into derivative contracts and non-derivative financial instruments with the
objective of managing its financial and operational exposure arising from this risk by offsetting gains and
losses on the underlying exposures with gains and losses on the financial instruments used 1o hedge them,
The Company monitors the hedging program, derivative positions and hedging strategies. The Company’s
hedging documentation includes the hedging objectives, practices und procedures, and related accounting
treatment. Hedges that reccive designated hedge accounting treatment are evaluated for effectiveness at the
time they are designated as well as throughout the hedging period.

Derivative Instruments

The Company has a mix of US Dollar and Lure denominated debl. To align the indebtedness to
the Company’s earning profile, from time to time the Company enters into cross currency swaps and also
caps intcrest rates on variable rate borrowings.

On November 20, 2018, the Company entered into a cross currency swap fixing the exchange rate
of €100.0 million of borrowing into £88.9 million through to maturity on January 9, 2023 and to fix the
exchange rate on the quarterly interest repayments. This fransaction was undertaken to better align the GBP
earnings of the Group with its loan commitments.

On August 20, 2018, the Company entered into interest rate caps on €265.0 million of borrowings.
These caps eliminate the exposure to EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters rates in excess of 1.00% up to January 9,
2020 and 1.50% up to January 9, 2021.

Shortly after its January 6, 2017 Term l.oan borrowing, the Company executed an internal FX
hedge transaction between a UK subsidiary and a US subsidiary. The arrangement, undertaken in
connection with tax planning considerations, partialty hedges exposure to the Company’s Euro-
denominated Term Debt. The US subsidiary pays semi-annual interest accrued at the floating six-month
LIBOR rate on a $207.6 million intercompany loan to its UK affiliale. Offsetting this, the UK subsidiary
incurs semi-annual floating interest based on EURIBOR (with a 0% floor) on a €193.0 million loan to the
US subsidiary. The intercompany FX hedge loans terminate January 6, 2024 unless accelerated by the
early termination of the Company’s Term Loans.

Information related to the fair values of derivative instruments in our consolidated balance sheets
as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 is as follows:

Liability Derivatives
December 31, 2020
Derivatives not designated as Balance Sheet Fair
hedging instruments Location Value Net

Cross-currency forward

acquisition hedge Accrued liabilities $ 280 $ 280
December 31, 2019

Derivatives not designated as Balance Sheet Fair

hedging instruments Location Value Net

Cross-currency forward
dequusition hedge Accrued hainliies $ 372 S {6

The interest rate caps had nominal value at Dececmber 31, 2020 and have nol been valued in the
financial statements,
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Information related to the effect of derivative instruments on our consolidated statements of
operations for the fiseal year cnded December 31, 2020 and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 is

as follows:

Derivatives Not Designated as

Hedging Instruments Amount of {Income} Loss Recognized in Income on Derivative
Far the Fiseal For the Fiscal
Year Ended Year Ended
Lacation December 31,2020 December 31, 2019

Crosscurrency forwad

acquisition hedgs Interest and Other Expense § 187 8 1342
Crass-cumency option Interest and Other Expense § - $
10. Fair Value Measurement:

The following table provides the assets and liabilitics carried at fair value measured on a recurring
basis as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 using the fair value hicrarchy prescribed by 1.8,
GAAP, The fair value hierarchy has three levels based on the reliability of the inputs used to determine fair
value. Level 1 refers to fair values determined based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
Level 2 refers to lair values estimated using significant other obscrvable inputs, and level 3 includes fair
values estimated using significant non-observable inputs. An asset or liability’s classification within the
hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Carrving Fair Value Measurements Using
Value Level | Level 2 Level 3

At December 31, 2020

Cross-currency forward
acquisition hedge - liabilities $ 280 - %5280 -

At December 31, 2019

Cross-currency forward
acquisition hedge - liabilities $ 326 - F 3% -

The Company’s counterparty to these cross currency swap and option contracts is 2 major
financial institution with an investment grade credit rating. The contracts are measured at fair valuc using a
valuation approach which represents the counterparty’s good faith estimate of the market value of the
contracts based on estimated or actual bids and ofters on forward currency contracts.

11. Book Overdrafts:

Book overdrafts represent checks drawn on zero balance accounts that have not yet been presented
to the Company’s banks for funding. Such overdrafis arc funded when the related checks are presented and
are not subject to finance charges. There were aggregate book overdrafls of $8.2 million and $21.1 million
al December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Such amounts are included in accounts
payable and drafts in the consolidated balance sheets.
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12, Commitments and Contingencies:

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to various legal proceedings arising in the normal
course of business, While litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, management currently believes that
the ullimate outcome of these proceedings. individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash tlows.

In conjunction with certain transactions and in the ordinary course of business, the Company
occasionally provides routine indemnifications relating te the enforceability of trademarks. coverage for
logal und environmental issues, as well as provisions tor other items. Currently, the Company has several
such agreements in place with various expiration dates. Based on historical experience and evalualion of
the specific indemnities, management does not believe that any material loss related to such
indemnifications is likely and therefore no related liability has been recorded. The Company has standby
letter of ¢redit agreements securing certain obligations totaling approximately $0.3 million at December 31,
2020. Except for the Company’s letiers of credit, the Company has no other existing off-balancce sheet
financing arrangements.

The Company entered into a management agreement with Bain Capital Private Equity, LP, a
refated party to its majority shareholders, to assist the Company with various services. The Company
incurred expenses related to these services of $1.5 million for the fiscal ycar ended December 31, 2020 and
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019,

The Company and its subsidiaries have leases for real estate and equipment utilized in its business.
In most cases, management expects that in the normal course of business these leases will be renewed or
replaced by other leases. Future minimum rental payments required under leases that have an initial or
remaining non-cancelahle lease term in excess of one year are as follows:

Total
Fiscal year ended:
2021 $ 12,127
2022 7,496
2023 4,820
2024 3,145
2025 2,570
2026 and thereafter 3,945

Total § 36,103

Rental expense net of rental reimbursements approximated $15.9 million for the fiscal year 2020
and $16.5 million for the fiscal year 2019,

On June 23, 2020, the Company was advised of the termination of several contracts in France PSA
due to cost saving initiatives being introduced. The Company needed to make a significant restructuring of
its work force as a result of the loss of these contracts. The Company worked closely with PSA 10 minimise
the impact on its employees during Summer 2020.

A ‘Social Plan” (restructuring plan under French labor law) was initiated in September 2020 and

concluded in December 2020. A provision of $9.9 million was accrued at December 31. 2020 to meet the
anticipated costs of the restructuring, which is included within acerued liabilities.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans:

The Company maintains a qualified cash or deferred compensation plan under Section 401(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code. Participation in this plan is available to substantiaily all salaried employees and
to certain groups of hourly employees. Under the plan, employees may elect to defer up te 75 percent of
their annual wages, subject to the limitations of the Internal Revenue Code. All matching contributions
were suspended.

With the acquisition of APX International during 1997, the predecessar Company acquired certain
obligations with respect to a frozen defined benefit pension plan. The plan was frozen in 1988 and covers
¢ertain union and non-union employees who were formerly employed by Autodynamics Corporation of
America, Inc., a predeccessor company. Contributions are determined in accordance with provisions of the
plan. This plan is not material to the Company’s consolidated financial pesition, resulls of operations or
cash flows,

The Company also participates in statutory pension plans for certain of its foreign subsidiaries.
The Company’s conselidated pension expense was $3.8 million for the fiscal year December 31, 2020 and
$4.6 million for the fiscal year December 31, 2019.

14. Income Taxes:

Tederal and state income taxes are provided at the applicable rates on the basis of items included
in the determination of income for income tax purposcs, The Corporations effective tax ratc may be
different than what would be expected if the federai and state statutory rates were applied 10 earnings
primarily because of changes in the valuation allowance, income included for tax purposes not included for
financial report, and amounts expensed for financial reporting that are not deductible for tax purposes.
Examples of these in the current year and years prior are the impacts of foreign X, foreign exchange rates,
meals and entertainment, taxable gain on reorganization of the MSXI group, and state and local taxes.

As discussed in Note 1, the Company was acquired in January 2017 and is now a U.K. entity. As a
result, the statutory ratc decreased from 35% to 19%.

The following table summarizes {{oss) and income before income taxes, the Company s
components of the consolidated provision for income taxes and the temporary differences that give rise (o
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended December 31. 2020 and December 31, 2019 (in
thousands):
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(Lloss) income from operations before income taxes
for 11.8. and forcign operations was:
UK
us
Other Foreign

The provision (benefit) for income taxes was:
Current:
UK
US Federal
Other Foreign
US State
Deferred:
UK
US Federal
Other Foreign
IS State

Net deferred tax liabilities included:
Goodwill and intangibles
Prepatds, accrued liabilities and deferred compensation
Net operating losses
Property & cquipment
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Other, net
Deferred tax liability
less: Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax liability

The ability for the Company to utilize net operating losses (NOLs) it has either generated or

For the Fiscal
Year Ended
December 31, 2020

For the Fiscal
Year Ended
Dcecember 31, 2019

$ (68.118) & 4,053
(28.822) (13,563)
18,703 1,915
$ (78,237)  $ (7,565)
$ 910 g 3,174
(313) 5,818
7,213 4,854
414 497
(964) 1.468
(3,920) (10,905)
(1,081) (1,298)
(7.368) 4,579
$ (5.109) $ 8. 187

At December 31,

At December 31,

2020 2019

3 (78,655)  § (90,316)
214 (276)

20,014 12,836

(85) (331)

5,270 5,069

11,063 12,512

(42,179) (60,706)

(21,293) (15.550)

$ (63.472) & (76,256)

acquired may be limited under certain sections of the Internal Revenue Code. As of December 31, 2017,

the US Consolidated Group utilized the remaining balance of NOL carryforwards in the amount of

approximately $0.9 million. The Company has NOL carry forwards related to certain foreign operations
totaling $88.2 million, of which $68.4 million can be carried forward indefinitely, with the balance expiring

in varying amounts between 20125 and 2035.

Realization of deferred lax assets is dependent on various limitations as provided within current
tax laws, including generation of sufficient taxable income within specific tax jurisdictions. At December
31, 2020, a $21.3 million valuation allowance has been recorded for specific items where management has
determined that the likelihood of realization was not sufficient to allow for recognition of the deferred 1ax

asset, primarily related 1o various tax attribute carry forwards. Based on expecied future profits,

management determined that it was more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets will not be realized

in the future.
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In 2019 the Company recognized an uncertain tax position in the amount of $4.3 million and $0.1
million in 2020.

The following table summarizes activity of unrecognized 1ax benefits:

Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ -
Increase related to current year tax positions 4,247
Balance as of December 31, 2019 4,247
Increase related to current year tax positions r 128
Balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 4375

The Company recognizes interest acerued related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense. Penalties, if incurred, would also be recognized as a component of income tax expense. The
Company had accrued interest expense related to the unrecognized tax berefits of $0.6 miliion in 2020, and
$0.5 for 2019, Interest included in our provision for income taxes for all periods presented was immaterial.

The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, its subsidiaries file income tax returns in
the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and [oreign jurisdictions. The Company is subject to
examination by taxing authorities throughout the world, including such major jurisdictions as Brazil.
France, Germany, ltaly, Spain, the U.K. and the U.S. The global taxing authorities for which the Company
operates are subject to examination based on each country’s statute of limitations. The U.S. federal income
tax returns of the Company for the years 2015 through 2018 are subject to examination by the Internal
Revenue Service. The U.S. state and local income tax returns of the Company are subject to examination
by the state taxing authorities, for various periods generally up to four years afier they are filed. Currently,
the U.8. federal income 1ax returns are under examination for the tax years 2015 through 2018. Also, the
UK is under examination for the tax years 2015 through 2017. Ttaly is under cxamination for the tax year
2016.

15. Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated subscquent events through the date these financial statements were
available for issuance which is April 27, 2021. We are not aware of any significant events that occurred
subsequent to the balance sheet date that would have a material impact on the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

16. Impact of Covid-19

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization { WHO) announced a global health
emergency because of a new strain of coronavirus originating in Wuhan. China (the COVID-19 outbreak)
and the risks to the international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its point of erigin. In
March 2020, the WHO classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase in
exposure globally. The ful! impact of the COVID-19 cutbreak continues to evolve as of the date of this
report. As such, it is uncertain as 1o the full magnitude that the pandemic will have on the Company’s
financial condition, liquidity and future results of operations. Management is actively monitoring the
global situation on its financial condition. liquidity, operations, industry and workforce.

The COVID-19 outbreak has affected the Company as follows during 2020:

+  Workforce disruptions negatively impacted the Company’s customers which has negatively
impacted the Conipany’s revenuces during 2020.
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¢ Revenues were particularly negatively impacted during Q2 of 2020. During Q3 and Q4 there was
significant recovery and operating performance returned 1o a similar leve! as that being gencrated
before the pandemic,

» The Company is dependent upon its worktorce to deliver its services. Devclopments such as
social distancing has impacted the Company s ability to deploy its work force effectively at
customer lacations, however, in many circumstances the Company s workforee is able to deliver
services remotely.

s Due to the variability of the Company’s cost base, the Company was able to react to the financial
implications o COVID-19 by taking advantage of furlough programs and reducing hcadcount
where required. The Company also renegotiated payment arrangements with certain supplicrs to
modify the timing and amounts of cash outflows.

»  The Company increased its borrowings under its existing credit facilitics to provide adequate cash
needs,

¢ The Company obtained government-sponsored financing in Spain and I'rance as further disclosed
in Note 8.

While the Company has significant financial resources, these are finite and the Company is subject to
lending covenants related te minimum levels of profitability across the worldwide group. The directors
believe that the above measures taken by the Company should cnable the business 10 manage its way
through the pandemic and meet its lending covenants within the next 12 months

Only if the effects of COVID-19 are significantly prolonged and extreme do the Directors consider that

there may be a possibility that the Company’s asset values, including long-lived assets and intangible
assets, might become impaired due to COVID-19.
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